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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may be attached. In particular, companies
may list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability nor any obligation to forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the
emerging nature of companies listed on GEM and the business sectors or countries in which the companies operate. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile
and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the internet website operated by the Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not
generally required to issue paid announcement in gazetted newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors should note that they need to have access to
the GEM website in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents
of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Thiz Technology Group Limited collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to Thiz Technology Group Limited. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: 1. the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading;
2. there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and 3. all opinions expressed in this report have
been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Corporate Information
EEEHR

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (Chief Executive Officer and Chairman)

Mr. Yuan Luke Tsu
Mr. Lin En Fu

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Li Zhe

Mr. Chu Meng Chi
Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
Unit 1004, 10/F, Tower B, Hunghom Commercial Centre

37 Ma Tau Wai Road
To Kwa Wan
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Registered Office
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Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Share Registrar
Butterfield Bank (Cayman) Limited

Butterfield House

68 Fort Street P. O. Box 705
George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

British West Indies

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Tricor Tengis Limited

26/F, Tesbury Centre
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Hong Kong

Thiz Technology Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008

HOES
TR (FTEAEHARER)
TRT A
HRERS A

FEMTES
MRS
HEZELL
USEEee

BYIFNTES
BHigt
KBS
REHLL

MMBEREZERDIS

=5
nie
8
FEEET 5

AT ¥ 0B EE 1012 1004 E

sEMMMEBER

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

F2RNIBFE R
Butterfield Bank (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street P. O. Box 705
George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

British West Indies

RINBFEXERSEBNERE
BEZERERAR

B

SEAREFR 285
BEEEFR L 2618




Principal Banker

Corporate Information [Continued])
tEER (&

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Tsim Sha Tsui Branch
82-84 Nathan Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Auditor

Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited

2001 Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Compliance Officer
Mr. Lin En Fu

Audit Committee
Ms. Li Zhe
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Mr. Wong Lam, CPA, MBA
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Corporate Profile
EEEIT

Based in Hong Kong, Thiz Technology Group Limited (“Thiz”, the “Company” or the
“Group”) is the first and a leading developer of Linux solutions for PC and provider of
internet application technology users. Thiz was also the first Linux software solution
provider listed in the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong in July 2001 (Stock Code: 8119). Thiz is a provider of various computing
solutions and related services targeting individuals, small to medium size enterprises
and educational institutions. The products and services provided by the Group
include ThizLinux (desktop operating system and server), applications and other
related services, such as software installation, training and education. Thiz launches
high quality products that are flexible to customise for SMEs, government and
educational institutions.

Thiz is devoted to developing Linux systems, internet application technology and
related applications, and promote the Group’s brandname to the global market.
ThizLinux is the Group’s R&D backbone on Linux operating systems and applications.
The Group has introduced a wide range of products including ThizLinux desktop
systems, office suites, server applications, Internet trading systems, diskless solution,
intranet collaborative software, anti-virus software and firewall.

To promote Linux general education, Thiz provides various solutions on Linux
education for primary and secondary schools, tertiary institutions and training centres.
The solutions include course management, training materials, teaching plans, training
certifications, examination system and other related services. Currently, the Group is
actively promoting learning and usage of ThizLinux products.

On regional development, the Group has offices in Hong Kong, Taiwan and China.
Through software bundling, OEM partnerships, education and ThizLinux enterprise
solutions, the Group offers comprehensive support and services to governments,
private enterprises, educational institutions as well as individual users in the Greater
China region.
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Financial Highlights
MBFHE

Turnover Analysis SRBNIM
2008 (HK$'000) 2007 (HK$'000)
—BENFE(FET) —ETLF(FET)

. S?\es_?f computer products . Dist\ri'butioof. Group's Linux based software and hardware products . Troining income
SHEBER 3 SRS M LinuxE I RRE 1R & A

2008 2007

—EEN\F —TTLF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTERT FET
Financial Position BRI

- Total assets —EERE 31,608 45,409

- Net current liabilities —mEBeEEE (38,017) (45,187)
Financial Ratios B R

— Current ratio — BN E 0.3 0.2

— Gross profit margin —EFE 25% 66%
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Chairman’s statement
FEHRE

Review:

1.

Thiz Technology Group Limited

Pursuant to Linux human resources development needs, the Group has
launched five major course systems for [T elite training, i.e., Linux network
engineer, Linux software engineer, LAMP net page framer, J2ME and Linux
embedded development engineer tailored made for different types of people.
The courses have been designed to suit different needs of various levels with
combined efforts from a variety of contributors to ensure the course systems’
leadership internationally.

Today, licensed schools from 16 provinces and 3 municipalities across the
country have joined the Group’s IT €elite training, together with almost 40 partner
universities and colleges, they have formed a solid foundation for the Group
to promote Linux technology and popular in China, and fully represented the
Group’s advantages in training as well as the achievements of our licensing
strategy. Up to now, we have provided more than 5,000 trained personnel for IT
enterprises and various business institutions, and won numerous praises for Thiz
from the Linux industry.

For a better development of the cooperation among universities and colleges,
we have launched the examination and recognition business for universities
and colleges, four levels of recognition systems from Thiz and correspondent
recognitions from the Ministry of Information Industry have been launched
nationwide in various universities and colleges, with “ThizLinux” university and
college recognition and examination centers established in tens of universities
and colleges across the country.

The Group has cooperated with Dalian Harbor Specialized College to jointly
train engineering professionals like Linux network engineer and Linux software
engineer, with various courses developed smoothly.

The Group has cooperated with Dalian Technocrat Further Education School
under Dalian city government to license to launch training for Linux software
engineer.

The Group has cooperated with J34 J& 8% ¢4 £} £ 5§ % A& R 2 7] of Yingkou
Economic Development Zone to introduce Linux technology and train software
engineers. The Group has also been engaged in the education and training
of Linux software engineering technicians with joint admission together with
secondary technical schools and state 211 project outstanding universities and
colleges, with supports from local governments.

The Group has cooperated with & ¥ 91 58 15 5)ll # # of Dalian University of

Technology with joint admission to enhance Ianguage ability of students and
promote recognition of Linux technology.
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Chairman’s statement (Continued]

During the year, the Group has provided enterprises with solutions and practical
trainings, those completed practical training include Linux embedded multimedia
player, IT personnel database website system development, practical training
for LED digital screen software system development, LCD software integration
development platform, IVR based on Callcenter, seat recording and surveillance
system, R&D on Fax on Demand and Voice on Demand and other systems,
mobile phone network selling platform based on e-commerce application, online
attendance system based on virtual team application.

Outlook:

1.

Further upgrade of course systems in 2008:

Pursuant to present human resources needs for Linux “Professionals”, Thiz IT
elite training has reformed the original course systems in the beginning of 2008
into three levels, with three systems ThizLinux manager, ThizLinux network
engineer and ThizLinux software engineer. After initial study in ThizLinux
manager course, a student may, in accordance with his/her development needs
and interests, choose between the two major directions of ThizLinux network
engineer and ThizLinux software engineer. Software engineer has been further
divided into three minor directions of lamp, java and C++, pursuant to market
needs in different regions across the country.

Online examination system:

In coordination with the examination and recognition business for universities
and colleges, Kunshan practical training center has developed by itself
related online examination system. In 2008, online examination system will be
implemented in nationwide universities and colleges to replace traditional paper
examination; this will be another milestone in ThizLinux training.

Fully launched practical job training solutions with universities and colleges:

In 2008, Thiz train will enhance its strategic alliance with regard to employment
with the government and renowned [T enterprises, to provide enterprises with
specialized personnel, based on practical employment. Thiz IT elite training will
cooperate with universities and colleges to launch practical training directly,
university graduates specialized in computer and related disciplines will be
selected to join practical training center’s enhanced Linux theory and project
practical training. Upon completion, each student will be placed among
hundreds of IT enterprises in Beijing for employment, in accordance with their
respective practical training directions, so as to provide such enterprises with
quality IT elites needed.

With professional Linux software core technologies, the Group will gradually
assist corporate solutions including to implement graphic document security
control system, develop WEB platform based on e-commerce application,
enterprise distant online business management platform, and provide training
and consultation services for enterprise Linux system.
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Chairman’s statement (Continued]
i’ﬁ (:--E)

5. The Group will engage in R&D cooperation with the Computer and Information 5. HREMBASHEREESER  KERBEEIRE
Faculty of Liaoning Normal University and the Graduate School of the BITRAEREEASE  EIEE RN - HEWT L - B
Information Engineering Faculty of Dalian University, to develop graphic REAEGIECEFEZRL - LinuxiBHRER LT R Linux
electronic signature system, Linux computers operation system and Linux data THEBRERZESREREE -

base with regard to R&D projects as well as research and teaching.

6. The Group will also promote Linux network laboratories and establish licensed 6. MABTRERER @ BEEHBRESEEDIIHRER
recognition centers step by step with the Ministry of Information Industry and BIERME  HELNEBEREREEREFRLNE
various education institutional partners, in an innovative business model, to 37 #ETTLINUX A IS I R B R REET o

proceed with our Linux training and examination and recognition businesses.

Wong Hoi Wong S b!
Chairman FE
Hong Kong, 27 June 2008 BHE ZEENFARAZTER
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRER AT

Business review #£ K[OR8

The Group’s cooperation project with “dt R A s B E M BT AR A 8”7,
a subsidiary of China Telecom, entered the final stage, with opportunity for
further cooperation.

The website operation unit of the Group developed a website for 1t Z1EKE
mIZEBRIQF.

The Group cooperated with B #I9NEE 1% of Dalian University of Technology
to broaden teaching channels, train more multipurpose, suitable technical
personnel with joint admission. Staff from the Group participated also in the
spring appointment fair organized by Dalian Human Recourses Bureau.

The Group cooperated again with the Youth Vocational College, to launch
corporate practical training for 2008 graduates of computer related disciplines,
s0 as to complete practical training courses for such graduates.

Business and teaching staff of the Group attended the 2008 annual working
meeting of the “Education and Examination Center of the Ministry of
Information Industry” in Jinan, speeches were delivered on the meeting on 4
areas: (1) a general review of the 2007 state computer software examination,
appraisal of industry techniques and vocational education; (2) assignments
of key 2008 annual industry, vocational education training, examination and
technique appraisal jobs; (3) award presentation for 2007 state computer
software examination authority, electronic industry vocational technique
appraisal authority and outstanding institutions and persons in vocational
education; (4) consider and discuss development trends of state computer
software examination, vocational technique appraisal, as well as vocational
education training.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued]

EEEF WS ()

Financial Review

The Group’s consolidated turnover amounted to HK$6,264,000 (2007:
HK$14,141,000). During the year, loss from operation for the year was
HK$39,223,000, compared to HK$42,309,000 in the corresponding period of last
year. Further, loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year was
HK$42,848,000 while the corresponding amount of last year was HK$48,468,000.

In line with the decreased in turnover, gross profit for the Group decreased from
HK$9,393,000 in 2007 to HK$1,545,000 in 2008, while the gross profit margin
decreased from 66% to 25%. The major reason for the decreased in gross profitability
was due to training income have decreased during the year.

Total operating costs were approximately HK$22,236,000 (2007: HK$27,807,000).
Compare to last year, the operating costs have decreased by 20%.

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company and loss per share for the year
were HK$42,848,000 (2007: HK$48,468,000) and HK4.2 cents (2007: HK11.0 cents
(restated)) respectively.

Financial resources and liquidity

As at 31 March 2008, total assets of the Group amounted to HK$31,608,000
(2007: HK$45,409,000). Current assets amounted to HK$14,933,000 (2007:
HK$8,645,000), of which HK$11,755,000 (2007: HK$1,457,000) were cash and
bank deposits. Current liabilities of HK$52,950,000 (2007: HK$53,832,000) mainly
comprised of trade payables, other payables and accruals, convertible preference
shares, and amounts due to directors and his spouse. There was no significant
provision for tax payable during the year. Current ratio of the Group was 0.3 (2007: 0.2).

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$38,017,000 (2007: HK$45,187,000).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s main operations are in the PRC and Taiwan and its income and

expenses are transacted in RMB and NT$ respectively. Accordingly, it has no
significant exposure to foreign exchange risk.
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Management Discussion and Analysis [Continued]

Financial Review (continued)
Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had no charge or pledge of assets and contingent
liabilities are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

Capital commitments

At the balance sheet date, the Group had no material capital commitment.
Management and employees

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had about 147 employees, including the Directors of
the Company. Salaries of employees are primarily based on prevailing market salary

levels and year end bonuses are granted at the end of each calendar year. Other
employees’ benefits include provident fund, medical cover and other insurance.
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Biographical Details of Directors
EE/T

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, aged 53, is an Executive Director and a founder of the Group.
Mr. Wong has over 28 years’ experience in sales and marketing, in particular in
electronics and computer industries. Mr. Wong was the Chairman of Association of
Electronic Components Industry of Taipei from 1990 to 1993. He oversees the sales
and marketing strategies of the Group. Mr. Wong graduated from the Department of
Industrial Management of Tamsui Oxford College in Taiwan with a diploma.

Mr. Yuan Luke Tsu

Mr. Yuan Luke Tsu, aged 34, has been elected as an Executive Director during the
year. Mr. Yuan graduated from a Business Administration department of the California
State University. He was the President of F.T. Data Management Inc. since 1997 to
date. Mr. Yuan has substantial experience in the field of corporate administration and
management.

Mr. Lin En Fu

Mr. Lin En Fu, aged 52, is currently the chief operational officer of the Company.
He holds a degree of Master of Economics from the University of Kansas and was
employed by First Commercial Bank of Taiwan for 21 years.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Mr. Lin Chien Hsin, aged 54, graduated from the Economic Faculty of Taiwan
University and had been involved in research studies in Harvard and Standford
Business Schools. He was the Vice President of Holtek Semiconductor Manufacturing
Co., Ltd. in 1999. Besides, he was also the Chief Financial Officer of United
Microelectronics Corporation from 1983 to 2001, a semi-conductor manufacturer
whose shares are listed in the Stock Exchange of Taiwan, and had been working
there for about 18 years.

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen

Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen, aged 43, has been elected as a Non-executive Director during
the year. Ms. Hsieh graduated from the department of Broadcasting and TV of Shih
Hsin University in Taiwan. She was the executive secretary of Franklin Advisors Inc.
and subsequently as the Vice President of Le Kao Co., Ltd. Ms. Hsieh has extensive
experience in the field of administration and management.

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru

Ms. Wu Chiao Ru, aged 40, has been elected as a Non-executive Director during
the year. Ms. Wu graduated with a Master Degree in Management from Yuan Ze
University in Taiwan. She was assistant to president of Lung Hwa Electronics Co., Ltd.
from 2002 to 2003, and subsequently the Vice President of Chi Fu Jong Hua Co., Ltd.
Ms. Wu has extensive experience in the field of public relations and consultancy.
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Biographical Details of Directors (Continued])

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Li Zhe

Ms. Li Zhe, aged 38, is a qualified PRC lawyer. Ms. Li graduated with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economic Law from Zhongshan University, the PRC, a Master’s Degree
of Business Administration from Murdoch University, Australia and a Postgraduate
Diploma in Law from the Manchester Metropolitan University of the United Kingdom.
Ms. Li has served a number of law firms in the PRC and Hong Kong. She was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in July 2001.

Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Mr. Chu Meng Chi, aged 43, has been appointed as independent non-executive
director during the year. He obtained a bachelor degree in business administration
from the Taiwan National Sun Yat-sen University. Mr. Chu has over 16 years’

experience in the field of corporate administration and financial investments.

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

Ms. Chan Mei Sze, aged 43, is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. She has over 20 years’ accounting and finance experience in various
industries in Hong Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report

sy pore g b
TEERRE

INTRODUCTION

The Company endeavours to comply with all the code provisions on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in the GEM Listing Rules by establishing a formal and
transparent procedure to protect and maximize the interests of shareholders during
the year ended 31 March 2008.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Directors have complied with such code of conduct and the required
standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors throughout the year ended 31 March 2008.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on behalf of shareholders.
The Board is of the view that it is the Directors’ responsibility to create value for
shareholders as a whole and safeguard the best interests of the Company and the
shareholders by discharging its duties in a dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on
the principle of good faith.

The Board comprises a total of 9 Directors, with three Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (CEO and Chairman), Mr. Lin En Fu and Mr. Yuan Luke Tsu;
three Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lin Chien Hsin, Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen and
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru and three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Li
Zhe, Mr. Chu Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with
the terms of the guidelines.
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Corporate Governance Report [Continued]

EEER®RE ()

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The primary functions of the Board include:

0

(i)

()

(V)

deciding on the overall strategies, overseeing operational and financial
performance and formulating appropriate policies to manage risk exposure
associated with realizing the strategies and goals of the Group;

being held accountable for the internal control system of the Company and
responsible for reviewing its effectiveness;

being ultimately responsible for preparing financial accounts and discussing the
performance, financial conditions and prospects of the Company in a balanced,
clear and comprehensible manner. These responsibilities are applicable to
quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Company, other price sensitive
announcements published according to the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure
of other financial information, reports submitted to regulatory bodies and
information disclosable under statutory requirements; and regularly reviewing
its own functions and the powers conferred upon Executive Directors to ensure
appropriate arrangements are in place.

Whilst Executive Directors, who oversee the overall business of the Company,
are responsible for the daily operations of the Company, the Board is
responsible for affairs involving the overall policies, finance and shareholders of
the Company, namely financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes
to accounting policies, annual operating budgets, material contracts, major
financing arrangements, principal investment and risk management strategy.

The management is well informed of its powers and duties with clear guidelines
and instructions, in particular regarding situations under which reporting to the
Board is necessary and matters that require the approval of the Board before
any decisions or commitments can be made on behalf of the Company.

The full Board meets at least four times a year, at approximately quarterly
intervals, to review the financial performance, results of each period, material
investments and other matters of the Group that require the resolution of the
Board. Simultaneous conference call may be used to improve attendance
when Individual Director cannot attend the meeting in person. Opinions of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are actively sought by the Company if they
are unable to attend the meeting in person.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

eEER®mE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
The primary functions of the Board include: (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Board held four regular board meetings.
The attendance record of each member of the Board is set out below:

Attendance
Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong (CEO & Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Yuan Luke Tsu 4/4
Mr. Lin En Fu 4/4
Non-executive Directors
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen 4/4
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru 4/4
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Li Zhe 4/4
Mr. Chu Meng Chi 4/4
Ms. Chan Mei Sze 4/4

The number of total meetings of each director shown above indicates the number of
regular meetings held during their terms of appointment and takes into account the
effect of resignation or appointment during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has adopted a set of Code on Corporate Governance (“Company Code”)
which sets out the corporate standards and practices used by the Group to direct
and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by referencing to the principles, code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (“GEM Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing
Rules, which came into effect on 1st January 2005. The Board will continue to
monitor and revise the Company Code and assess the effectiveness of our corporate
governance practices in tandem with changes in the environment and requirements
under the GEM Code, to ensure the Company Code is in line with the expectations
and interests of shareholders and comply with the GEM Code.

Thiz Technology Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008

EF8(@)
ESSTTWEDE (@)

REEZZN\F=A=1+—HLFE EFFEHTOR
EHEFREER EFERKEZHFERERINMOT

HE=E
HiTES
TR A (TTHAEHFELE) 4/4
REFEE 4/4
MAEBFEE 4/4
FHITES
HEZELL 4/4
RRI5I0Z+ 4/4
RIS A 4/4
BYFHTES
BRI+ 4/4
KRAEEAE 4/4
RIEFF L+ 4/4

BEEL R ERBUBTREREZZENANMBITZES
SEHE - YDA ARFAFERZEZTE -

FREBHR

AEECREA—ECXERTA(AFSTA) - #IAKH
EEBHAMEREXBRHARBZIEETURER - A7
SANS2RA-TERF— A —HRERZAER ETRA
g+ A E R AT (TAIZRTE ) Rz RA -
SARX RREREFTRMAY EFIHEEZZEAFT
A WHEBRE R AR T E 2 EBE QR TRIFRE
RIMFFEEMEE AR R 2 M - AR A TR A RCR
2R - BETRIZARTA




Corporate Governance Report [Continued]

The Company applied the principles and complied with all the code provisions as
set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the Code) contained in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules throughout the Period, save for the deviations
discussed below.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Wong Hoi Wong is both the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
who is responsible for managing the Board and the Group business. The Board
considers that, with the present board structure and scope of business of the Group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as Mr. Wong is
perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles in which he has been
acting. However, the Board will continue to review the effectiveness of the Group
corporate governance structure to assess whether the separation of the positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is necessary.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, all the non-executive directors should be appointed
for a specific term, subject to re-election. At present, the non-executive Directors are
not appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee was established in March 2006. The chairman of
the committee is Mr. Chu Meng Chi, an Independent Non-executive Director, and
other members include Ms. Li Zhe and Ms. Chan Mei Sze being Independent Non-
executive Directors.

During the period, the remuneration committee of the Company convened
one meeting, in which duties of the remuneration committee were identified,
all matters concerning the determination of remuneration of the Directors and
senior management were discussed. In addition, the remuneration policies and
incentive mechanism applicable to the Directors and senior management and the
overall remuneration system of the Group were further refined and reasonable
recommendations were made to the Board in the meetings. The remuneration
committee of the Company has considered and reviewed the existing terms of
employment contracts of the Executive Directors and appointment letters of the
Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

eEER®mE (F)

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for considering the suitability of a candidate to act as a
director and approving and terminating the appointment of a director. The Company
has not set up any nomination committee in the period.

The Chairman is mainly responsible for identifying suitable candidates for members of
the Board when there is a vacancy or an additional director is considered necessary.
The Chairman will propose the appointment of such candidates to each member
of the Board for consideration and each member of the Board will review the
qualifications of the relevant candidates for determining the suitability to the Group on
the basis of his qualifications, experience and background. The decision of appointing
a director must be approved unanimously by the members of the Board.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also
ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditor of the Company, Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong
Kong CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 27 to 28 of this
annual report.
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EEER®RE ()

AUDIT COMMITTEE

(@)

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in August 2001 and
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Li
Zhe, Mr. Chu Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze. The Audit Committee possesses
a wealth of experience and expertise including accounting profession, and
regulatory experience both in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the Mainland.

During the year, the Board reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee and has made relevant amendments to accommodate the
requirements of the GEM Code, where appropriate.

The primary function of the Audit Committee is to review and supervise the
Group’s financial reporting system, internal control procedures and to maintain
good and independent communications with the management as well as
auditors of the Company.

In discharging its responsibility, the Audit Committee has performed the
following work:

(i)  reviewed the draft annual and quarterly financial statements and draft
results announcements during the year;

(i)  reviewed, in conjunction with the auditors, the development of accounting
standards and assessed their potential impacts on the Group’s financial
statements;

The Audit Committee met four times during the year to review the results of the
Group.

AUDITOR

(@)

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, Messrs. Shu Lun Pan Horwath
Hong Kong CPA Limited is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, audit fees and non-audit service fees
payable to the auditor amounted to HK$320,000 (2007: HK$300,000) and
HK$90,000 (2007: HK$NIl) respectively.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company has conducted a review of its system of internal control periodically to

ensure it is effective and adequate. The Company convened meetings periodically to

discuss financial, operational and risk management control.
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Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical
segments is set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2008 and the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group at that date are set out on pages 29 to 32.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 35 and in note 29 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 26 to the
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of

Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 99 to page 100.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:—

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong
Mr. Yuan Luke Tsu
Mr. Lin En Fu

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen
Ms. Wu Chiao Ru
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Li Zhe

Mr. Chu Meng Chi

Ms. Chan Mei Sze

In accordance with article 116 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Wong
Hoi Wong, Mr. Yuan Luke Tsu, Ms. Hsieh Yi Chen and Ms. Wu Chiao Ru. shall retire
from the board by rotation and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has confirmed his/her
independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “GEM”) (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the year ended 31 March
2008 and the Company considers the independent non-executive directors to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements, no
other contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to ordinary resolutions passed on 5 August 2004, the share option scheme
adopted on 6 July 2001 (the “Old Scheme”) was terminated with immediate effect
provided that options which have been granted under the Old Scheme and remain
outstanding shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue
and the provisions of Chapter 23 of GEM Listing Rules. The Company has adopted a
new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on the
same date.

Details of the New Scheme are set out in note 28 to the financial statements. No share
option was granted under the New Scheme.

A summary of the movements of the outstanding share options granted under the Old
Scheme during the year, which continue to be exercisable, is as follows:—

Number of share options
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AR IEst S

RER-_ZZNF \ALRBRZEBREAR K22~
FLANB RN BERER S ([EF3)) DRAE& L -
EARBERT SR AR E R ITE 2 B ARSI RIB BT IR R
AR ETRAIE 238 2 BT - ARRERIERE
BBl R E RN AT 8 ([t &)

ET 8 2 FHR R M R MR 28 - EERIBH AR B
I RE A -

FRRBEFTENR L 2 B RITE AR (RTEETTE) 2B
R

BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding 2007 2008
Name of as at as at Exercise price Exercise price Exercise
director 1.4.2007 31.3.2008 Date of grant per share per share period
R-EELF R-ZENF ZEELF —BENE
MA—H =H=+—H R R
EEnE i RATHE i RATHRE RHEBH TEE TEE T8
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 1)
(Hizt2) (B#:£3) (Hiit2) (B17%3) (Bt 1)
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong 194,211 234,995 21 November 2.66 2.20 30 June 2002
FolRELE 2001 to 29 June 2012
—ETF —ET-F
+—A=+—H NA=THE
—E——F
AAZt+HE
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:
1. The share options are fully vested on 30 June 2002.

2. The exercise price and the outstanding number of options have been adjusted for the share
consolidation of the Company’s shares on 3 October 2005.

3. The exercise price and the outstanding number of options have been adjusted for the open
offer of the Company’s shares on 25 September 2007.

4. The consideration of the grant of an option is HK$1 each payable by the grantee.

At 31 March 2008, the number of shares to be issued under share options granted
under the Old Scheme was 234,995, representing 0.02% of the issued share capital
of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2008, the interests or short positions of the directors and chief
executives in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), Chapter 571 under the Laws of Hong Kong), which were
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
Rule 5.61 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows: —

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company

Directors’ Report (Continued]
EEgWmE (&)

%ﬂxﬁ“ﬁ'i“(mﬁ)
Hyat
1. BERER-_FT_FRA=TRRERME -

2. BREZTEERATEBEEZZEERARANR-_ZZTRF
TAZBETRD 2B & Hm L EE -

3. IEERBEEE_ZFTLFNA-TRBZAHBERAE -

4. BHEREZRESK1ETHERASM o
RZZZN\F=A=+—0 REEAZELZBREET
BTN BB /234,995 % + (AR B ETTARA 0.02% ©

ESREBZTHASNRRAE S iER

RIZZNEF=A=+—H JSEERIBTRAERER
ASREEMEREE (ERREBEMNEST1 BESZ LIMRK
DI R EE D)) EXVER) Z B in *Hﬁaﬁxf’ﬁ&ﬁ#%ﬁ
EAREE %&Hﬂiﬂlﬂﬁﬂ%xv*ﬂ'%7&8’\*BE%IJ‘%$
ERBERHMERAR (K xﬁﬁDZEﬁﬁiLF(@%f@E

ER LB ERIBRBEXRSEHEFLR AR 2 BELE
F) AR E FH S HIE 1R 2 352 (F/A B R R R IE ATl 2
Bz EaRER  JRREIZR ETRAE .61 KA
BARARNR MR EESERINT

(a) R rTBBERKIEERB &R

Type of interests and Percentage
number of shares held Number of the
ERERIRFERBEE of share Company’s
Personal Other options issued share
Name of director interest interest held Total capital
EARDH
Pt BRITRAE
EENR AR Hit i BREHE st s
(Note)
(Hizt)
Mr. Lin Chien Hsin 52,950,000 - - 52,950,000 5.06%
WEF &
Mr. Wong Hoi Wong - 38,301,000 234,995 38,535,995 3.69%
FElREE
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Directors’ Report [Continued)
EEEHRE (8)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company
(continued)

Note: These shares are registered in the name of Eaglemax International Investment Limited
(“ElIL"), a company owned by Intelligent Management Limited (“IML”") as the trustee of
Intelligent Management Discretionary Trust, a family discretionary trust, the objects of
which include Mr. Wong Hoi Wong, his family and any charity in the world. As at 31
March 2008, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong held the entire issued share capital of IML. By virtue
of SFO, Mr. Wong Hoi Wong has an interest of such shares.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2008, the following persons (not being the directors and chief
executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO as follows: —

ESRIBAHMAENRNATES il (18)

(a) MATSBRRBRIRMN 2R (&)

Mtat - 3% L BZ 19 7Y LA Eaglemax International Investment Limited
(TEIL)) 2 BEZLHHE © %27 Inteligent Management
Limited ([IML1) BA & % % # 12 5t Inteligent Management
Discretionary Trust 2 ZFEAFMHA : ZHEETLZTAR
FINETERERBURRIKEMEASZEE -R_F
NEZRA=+—A TIELEFEIMLEIDEITRA -
IRIBES REIE - TR ERARERM 2/ -

FERR IR

RETBNE=A=+—B  BEESREEEDIEVHE2
35 WEE T HES R EOE 6 e AFE LS
EMALG2ARARE - ARRGRES L HHREAZ

AL GEARBEEREETHRAB)AT -

Approximate
percentage of

Number of issued share
Name of Shareholder Nature of interests Shares Held capital
he &7
B»E BA&EE >
REREE EEME ROHE BHEIL
Ms. Hsu Chia-Huey Beneficial 55,470,628 5.31%
Hsu Chia-Huey Zz + %o
Attributable interest of 104,250,000 9.97% (Note 1)
controlled corporation (Biat1)
FEAE PR HI A Bl
Ms. Chu Ya Hsin Beneficial 51,500,000 4.93%
Chu Ya Hsin Z =+ %o
Attributable interest of 85,090,909 8.14% (Note 2)

controlled corporation

e e VNSl

Notes:

(1) 104,250,000 Shares, representing approximately 9.97% of the total issued share capital of
the Company, were held by Extra Bright Trading Limited, which was owned as to 51% by
Ms. Hsu Chia-Huey. Ms. Hsu Chia-Huey was therefore deemed to be interested in 9.97% of
the issued share capital of the Company under the SFO.

(2) 85,090,909 Shares, representing approximately 8.14% of the total issued share capital of
the Company, were held by Maxbase Holdings Limited, which in turn was 50% held by Ms.
Chu Ya Hsin. Ms. Chu Ya Hsin was therefore deemed to be interested in 8.14% of the issued
share capital of the Company under the SFO.

Thiz Technology Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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(Hiz2)

(1) 104,250,000 ff&fn (HHE R AR R 2 A2 EITRAL9.97%) A
Extra Bright Trading Limited#$7 + 7% /A &) FiHsu Chia-Huey % £ %
B51% ° At » Hsu Chia-Huey X TR B & R & G HIR A

KARBEBITRASTHES 9.97% i ©

(2) 85,090,909 A& A% 15 (1 & M AN A 2 FE B 1TARAL)8.14%) M
Maxbase Holdings Limited $4 * %2 8]f Chu Ya Hsin Z £#56
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, there was no person (not being
the directors and chief executives of the Company) who had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the purchases from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for approximately 70% of the total purchases of the Group and the purchases from
the largest supplier included therein accounted for approximately 23%.

The sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 46%
of the total sales for the year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 14%.

None of the directors, their respective associates and shareholders of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group for the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules during the year are set
out in note 34 to the financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the directors, the substantial shareholders or the management shareholders
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in any business which
competed with or might compete with the business of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 5.34 TO 5.45 OF THE GEM LISTING
RULES

The Company has complied with Rules 5.34 to 5.45 of the GEM Listing Rules
concerning board practices and procedures during the year ended 31 March 2008.

Directors’ Report (Continued]
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FERR g (18)

B EXWEEN R_ZZNEF=A=1+—H  BEEAA
T RARREEREZTRABR) BEESLHRGEHIEXV
B2 2 & 370 BYGSCIR T SkaE 75 I A B 1691 55 336 R AR E BT
B2 EBRMARE 2 A RRRN RO SES 2 #Eamsk

o
FT2EFRMER

FR - AAKELARERERBELASERBREY
70% - AR A EEPTERERIE#23% °

AEERRTAEFPNHELFRIHEEREN46%  MEKRE
FRSEERNE4)14% °

EEEMA BEARRFAREITBRAS Y U EZEE  HER
BZBMEALRAARBR  REABBEEAREEFAIA
EF RHEE P EE TS -

RERXS

FRETTZAIZER TR A ATR BB ER S F BN M B RE
Mi5E34 ©

fi P
MEEMES  EERRLERFRR (T RAER DS

AN EERAREERF LA EHRHF 2 EBTREER
e -

BTRIFRIR EHARASE 6.34 £ 56.45

AARRBEZZT N\F=A=+—HIEFEA-EETE
¥R ETHRAES34 £5.45 (FEHEFERRMAFEFZ
HIE -
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Directors’ Report [Continued)
EEg®E (H)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee in August 2001 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.29 to 5.32 of the GEM Listing Rules. The duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and to provide supervision over the financial
reporting process and internal control system of the Group. The Audit Committee
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Li Zhe, Mr. Chu
Meng Chi and Ms. Chan Mei Sze.

During the year, the Audit Committee has met four times to review the results of the
Group.

AUDITOR

On 9 October 2007, Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited changed its name to Shu Lun
Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited. The financial statements have been audited
by Shu Pun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the annual general
meeting to re-appoint the auditor, Shu Pun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Wong Hoi Wong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2008
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%\@ Horwath

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THIZ TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(BRI SEERRAR)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Thiz Technology Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 29 to 98, which comprise the consolidated and Company balance sheets as
at 31 March 2008, the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation
of these financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control
relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

Independent Auditor’s Report
G VRER LGRS

Shu Lun Pan Horwath Hong Kong CPA Limited
2001 Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 2526 2191

Facsimile : (852) 2810 0502
horwath@horwath.com.hk

www.horwath.com.hk

BRAEEEEHAEBMERAT
§r§ 15

EBE185

hIRES 2001 2

EiE ¢ (852) 2526 2191

EE : (852) 2810 0502
horwath@horwath.com.hk
www.horwath.com.hk
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Independent Auditor’s Report [Continued)
BIAHENRE (&)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and of the loss and cash flows of
the Group for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 3(a) to the financial
statements which indicates that the Group suffered accumulated losses of
HK$162,102,000 as at 31 March 2008 and, as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$38,017,000, net liabilities amounted
by HK$25,452,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note
3(a), indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
the financial support of a shareholder who has agreed to provide funds to finance the
working capital requirement of the Group.

SHU LUN PAN HORWATH HONG KONG CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

27 June 2008
Li Pak Ki
Practising Certificate number PO1330
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Consolidated Income Statement
FeWER

For the year ended 31 March 2008 #HZE—ZZ/\F=A=+—HILFE
=

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FHEx FAT
Turnover BER 4 6,264 14,141
Cost of sales HEREK (4,719) (4,748)
Gross profit EF 1,545 9,393
Other revenue and gain Hi A R Wz 4 883 2,455
Impairment loss on deferred IEFER R AR A
development costs AEEE 16 (19,415) -
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEWERERERSE 19(b) - (26,350)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (735) (4,637)
General and administrative expenses —BEITHER (21,501) (23,170)
Loss from operations RERE (39,223) (42,309)
Finance costs AR 6 (3,738) (6,159)
Loss before taxation BB AT B 7 (42,961) (48,468)
Taxation BiE 10(a) - -
Loss for the year REFEFE (42,961) (48,468)
Attributable to: PR 3
Equity holders of the Company RATERFBEA (42,848) (48,468)
Minority interests DEAR RS (113) -
(42,961) (48,468)
Dividend BRE 12 - -
(Restated)
(&=51)
Loss per share — Basic (in cents) SIREE - E4& (L) 13 4.2) (11.0)
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. BEMT 2 st At SR R TRR 2 EAER S ©
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
GEEEEREX

31 March2008 —ZEN\F=A=+—H
=

2008 2007
—E2EN\F =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FHT FAT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - BB REE 14 1,917 3,003
Deferred development costs PR B R A 16 14,758 33,761
Goodwill SRS 17 - -
16,675 36,764
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 18 994 2,025
Trade receivables FEURERTE 19 501 2,592
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HibfEEIE « e RIERRIE 1,683 2,571
Cash and bank balances e MIRITET 20 11,755 1,457
14,933 8,645
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables FERTRRIE 21 341 321
Other payables, HAb B ZIE - BT
deposits received and accruals FEREWIES 22 35,890 42 542
Amounts due to directors BN EERIE 23 8,725 8,724
Amount due to the spouse of a director ENESERERE 24 2,306 2,070
Convertible preference shares AR E LR 27 5,456 -
Tax payable FESEFIE 25 232 175
52,950 53,832
Net current liabilities RBEETE (38,017) (45,187)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRBES (21,342) (8,423)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Tax payable FESFIE 25 4,110 5,310
Convertible notes AR 2R 30 - 8,945
Convertible preference shares AT HARR B S IR 27 - 32,505
4,110 46,760
Net liabilities EEFHE (25,452) (565,183)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet [Continued]
GEEEARER(E)

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H
=

2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P EE FHT FAT
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves EARRFEE
Share capital (&N 26 104,561 30,617
Reserves & (130,013) (85,913)
Equity attributable to equity RARERFEA
holders of the Company FE(G AR (25,452) (55,296)
Minority interest DEAR R R A - 113
Total equity B (25,452) (55,183)

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of WEMBER_ETNF AT LAKEST SR RTER

directors on 27 June 2008. 1T °
WONG HOI WONG LIN EN FU EHE WEE
Director Director EF EE
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. BEMT 2 Bk AU SR SRR 2 A EB D ©
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Balance Sheet
BE&EXR

31 March2008 —ZEN\F=A=+—H
=

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FHT FAT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries GBI B AR 2 15 35,898 44,574
Current assets REVEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HEbEUGRIA « Be RIEFKRIE 150 148
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTT4H#F 11,251 4
11,401 152
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H b FE5RIE 2,237 12,063
Convertible preference shares AT HARRAB SR 27 5,456 -
7,693 12,063
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE (AR FE 3,708 (11,911)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER 39,606 32,663
Non-current liabilities FREEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FESTFT /B A FI5kIA 15 19 19
Convertible notes AR ER 30 - 8,945
Convertible preference shares AT AR B S IR 27 - 32,505
19 41,469
Net assets/(liabilities) BE(8fF)FE 39,587 (8,806)
EQUITY &=
Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital % 26 104,561 30,617
Reserves ] 29 (64,974) (39,423)
Total equity EREE 39,587 (8,806)

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of WEMBRENR_ZENF AT EAKEFSERERE

directors on 27 June 2008. BT
WONG HOI WONG LIN EN FU e MEB
Director Director E E3
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. BEMIFIE AU SRR 2 MBRE D o
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
FEHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2008 #HE—ZTZTN\F=-A=-+—HILFE
=

2008 2007
BTN —TTtE
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHEx FHET
Cash flows from operating activities REERCEERE
Loss before taxation MRE R ET 1R (42,961) (48,468)
Adjustments for:- FE
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment RiEER 20 154
Excess over the cost of BHEKEI 2
business combination RAE - (815)
Interest income FLEMA (152) ©®)
Interest expenses FERAXZ 3,738 6,159
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEWBRTE R B 18 - 26,350
Bad debts written off TR 634 -
Provision of obsolete and slow BEERRIHFERE
moving inventories 1,264 -
Depreciation e 1,452 860
Amortisation i 1,947 2,417
Impairment loss on deferred RIEF A AN
development costs DERIEY, SEi} 19,415 -
Operating loss before working capital changes BEBESEHF 2 ERER (14,643) (13,351)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE M, R (233) 574
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEWRBRIER A, (3Eh0) 1,589 (2,381)
Decrease in other receivables, deposits Hh U FIE - e Rk
and prepayments TERTFRIBER 756 2,255
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FERTRRIEIE N, (R A) 20 (599)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables, HAbfEFIE - Bt
deposits received and accruals FIERE YGRS L) (11,615) 2,693
Increase in amounts due to directors JERTE R FRIERL N 1 -
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes NS R E) 2 589 851
Cash used in operations CEEBFRARS (283,536) (9,958)
Interest received B UFE 152 8
Interest paid BRFE (2,309) (1,796)
Tax paid BRI (1,200) (173)
Net cash outflow from operating activities REEKCHESREFHE (26,893) (11,919)
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHCHEERE
Payments to acquire property, N=RZES
plant and equipment NG S PN (125) (1,347)
Product development expenditure incurred EmFAERY - (12,445)
Sales proceeds of property, plant and equipment &Y - R MR ETSHIEA 28 170
Acquisition of a subsidiary g — B AR - (148)
Net cash outflow from investing activities BREFH 2RSSR FE 97) (13,770)

BRI R BAR AR

2008 £
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement [Continued)
GEReRER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2008 #HZEZTTN\F=-A=-+—HIFE
=

2008 2007
—sENE B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Cash flows from financing activities MEIBHEERE
Additional loans raised SETINER 7,594 12,163
Advances from directors BEERAR - 4,645
Repayment of loans HEBER (4,000) -
Net proceeds from issue of shares on open offer  AFIEEITTAND PRSI FE 50 33,694 -
Net cash inflow from financing activities RMETHZHESRATFE 37,288 16,808
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BERBESEEEE
cash equivalents #in,/ (R B8 10,298 (8,881)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year RENZHERRESEMEIET 1,457 10,338
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year RERZAESRRSEHEER 11,755 1,457
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. BERT 2 B 5 Bt S B s sk 2 AHAEB S
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERTEER

For the year ended 31 March 2008 #HZE—ZZ/\F=A=+—HILFE

Total
Convertible attributable to
Capitl ~ Convertible  preference equity holders
Share Share  redemption  notes equity - shares equity Special  Tranglation ~ Accumulated of the Minorty
capital premium Teserve reserve reserve reserve Teserve losses  Company interest Total
KARER
R TERR THRER BEA 2
ha KR BORE  AEREE RESEE  WIRE  EXBR  ZhBR EBREE  RRE: @3t
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK§'000 HKS'000
Fin Fin AL FAR Fin T Fhn AL AR Tin T
Note29(3)  (Note29(b)  (Note 29(c)  (Note 29(d) ~ (Note 29e))
(W29q)  (itogy)  (WE2qe)  (WE299)  (WE29e)
Balance at 1 Apri 2006 KB/ EMA-B & 30617 23521 8 3,006 6,541 360 (551) (71,994 8.416) - (8.416)
Net gain recognised directly in equity b e
being net exchange gain QU EE (EaE
arising on translaton of ANERELEL
overseas operations EXNEEE) - - - - - - 1,588 - 1588 - 1588
Loss for he year FEERR - - - - - - - (B4ey) (48469 SO Y]
Total recognised income and expenses for the year FERERZ A RRS S 30,617 23,501 84 3,006 6,541 360 1087 (120462 (55,206) - (55,296)
Acquistion of a subsiciary (Note 36) WEE-TNE AR (i 36) - - - - - - - - - 113 113
Transfer on the maturty of convertile notes SHHETARSE - - - (1,208) - - - 1208 - - -
Balance at 31 March 2007 RZZFtF=A=1-A
andat 1 Apri 2007 RR-ZELERA-AzER 30617 23521 84 1,798 6,541 360 1,037 (119,254) 65,296) 13 (05,183
Net gain recognised directly in equity BRIERED
being net exchange gain 2WEEE(RE
arising on translation of EREEL
overseas operations EXNETE) - - - - - - 3,001 - 3,001 - 3,001
Loss for the year KEERE - - - - - - - (2848 (42848 13 (42,01
Total recogrised income and expenses for the year REERDIU)RFAZEE 30617 23521 84 1,798 6,541 360 4088 (162102  (95149) - (95,149)
Conversion of convertile notes BETAREE 9,001 177 - (1,798) - - - - 9010 - 9010
Conversion of convertble preference shares SETARELR 30,000 2739 - - (5,752) - - - 26,987 - 26987
Shares issued and related expenses in open offer MREERARIERZRR 34,853 (1,159) - - - - - - 33,604 - 33604
Balance at 31 March 2008 RZBENFZA=t-A2EH 104,561 26818 84 - 789 360 4038 (162,102) (25,452) - (25,452)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B TSR R M AE

31 March2008 —ZEN\F=A=+—H
=
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ORGANISATION AND OPERATIONS

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (Cap.22 Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 6 December 2000. The
address of its registered office and principal place of business are Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands and Unit 1004, 10/F, Tower B, Hunghom Commercial Centre, 37 Ma Tau
Wai Road, To Kwa Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM”) on 27 July 2001.

On 11 October 2002, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
approved the establishment of Level 1 American Depository Receipt program for
the Company’s shares in the United States of America.

The Group engages in an information technology industry, in which, it is a
developer and provider of a range of Linux solutions including Linux operating
systems, application systems run on Linux and related services such as software
installation, training and education and operates under the brandname of
ThizLinux. The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements have
been approved and authorised for issue by the broad of directors (“the Board”)
on 27 June 2008.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for the current accounting period of the Group and the
Company. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in
substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies.

Thiz Technology Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and

HKAS 1 Amendment: Capital Disclosures has been to expand the disclosures

provided in these financial statements regarding the Group’s financial

instruments and management of capital.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards

and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 Amendment

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 8
HK(FRIC) - Int 12

HK(IFRIC) - Int 13

HK(FRIC) - Int 14

Presentation of financial
statements

Borrowing costs

Consolidated and
separate financial
statements

Puttable financial
instruments and
obligations arising
on liquidation

Share-based
payment — vesting
conditions and
cancellation

Business combinations

Operating Segments

Service concession
arrangements

Customer loyalty
programmes

HKAS 19 - The limit on

a defined benefit asset,

minimum funding
requirements and
their interaction

1 January 2009
1 January 2009

1 July 2009

1 January 2009

1 January 2009

1 July 2009

1 January 2009
1 January 2008

1 July 2008

1 January 2008

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of

these new or revised standards or interpretations is expected to be in the period

of their initial application.

31 March 2008
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Thiz Technology Group Limited

(a) Statement of compliance and basis of preparation of financial

statements

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong, the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

At 31 March 2008, the Group had net liabilities of HK$25,452,000. As
disclosed in note 41, 40,000,000 convertible preference shares as at
31 March 2008 were converted into the Company’s ordinary shares
subsequent to 31 March 2008. The amount capitalised upon completion
of the conversion was HK$4,417,000. The Company is also currently
contemplating an equity fund raising plan. In addition, a shareholder agreed
to provide funds to finance the working capital requirements of the Group.
In the opinion of the directors, upon completion of the proposed equity
fund raising plan and with the financial support of a shareholder, the Group
will have sufficient capacity to maintain its business operation as a going
concern. Accordingly, the financial statements of the Group had been
prepared on a going concern basis.

The applicability of the going concern basis depends on the successful
completion of the proposed equity fund raising plan and the financial
support of a shareholder. The financial statements do not include any
adjustments that would result if the proposed equity fund raising plan
would not proceed. If the proposed equity fund raising plan would not
proceed, or if going concern basis were not to be appropriate, adjustments
would have to be made to the financial statements to reduce the value of
the assets of the Group to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting polices. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note
39.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 March each year.

The results of subsidiaries acquired and disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the
subsidiary to bring its accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

All significant intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group enterprises are eliminated on consolidation.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment on the asset transferred.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are
identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business
combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the
date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of
the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the
interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations and goodwill

Acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method.
The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values,
at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

3.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Thiz Technology Group Limited

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially
measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of
the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement.

Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

On the disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured
at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities in which the Group has the power, to govern the
financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable
are taken into account.

Investment in the subsidiaries is included in the Company’s balance sheet
at cost less any impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Impairment of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(9]

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged
either in providing products or services (business segment), or in
providing products or services within a particular economic environment
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on
a reasonable basis to that segment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets,
and liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group
transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to
the extent that such intra-group balances and transactions are between
group enterprises within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based
on similar terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to
acquire segment assets (both tangible and intangible) that are expected to
be used for more than one year.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets, interest-
bearing loans, borrowings, corporate and financing expenses and minority
interests.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its present working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after the asset has been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is charged to income
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly
demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the assets, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of the asset or a separate
asset.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost, over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Computer equipment 3 years
Office equipment 3 years to 7 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years to 7 years

Motor Vehicles 5 years

2

(9)
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

0]

Vi) Thiz Technology Group Limited

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a weighted average basis and include all costs of purchase
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and conditions. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to the anticipated sales proceeds of items sold in the ordinary course of
business less estimated selling expenses after the balance sheet date or to
management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where
the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction
costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through
profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value. During the year, the
Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables, which are
subsequently accounted for as follows:

(i) Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market
are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

(i) Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each
balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there
is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0]

Financial assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The objective evidence of impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

—  default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation; or

—  significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate, where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result
in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
debtors and bills receivable included in trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In this case,
the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts held in
the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EEESFHBER(18)
(i) Financial assets (continued) (i) EREEE)
(i)~ Effective interest method (i)  EERFEE
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised BERMNEEZRTESREEEHENEARNEH
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the BRASEFMEWAZTE - BEEFMEARE
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly Bb & E S B ETERT A U s A B B (a0
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of B AEBRITRIEF R RIS WA ZFIE -

the financial asset, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(iv) Derecognition of financial assets (v) RS FEE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual WA EEBEERFRE MG NEFEM
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or it transfers the R REERZEEMBREZB/BREDE
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership Bk ER - R IFERZESREE ° A
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains SEEMEE RN EREMEZEENARZE
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues KEBD R R BRI BB HIZ & E - Al
to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained AEEERARZEEZRBERRAIEAS
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may FZiEEaE - WAKBREMEZECHEE
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards FiE#EZBRISDEBRRE®R  AASESE
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues BERZBSREE  TEERAMKIEEES
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised MEEE -

borrowing for the proceeds received.

(i) Financial liabilities and equity instrument issued by the Group () REEETEMaBERERRIE

()  Classification as debt or equity () SHEBEFL R
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities PEREHBIEREGERATAREENE
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual zHEESs AR E ESER -
arrangement.

(i) Equity instruments (i) RAETA
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest BRATENDER-—HEEB2EELHNKREMRE
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity BERZHREERZENEL - REBEEITZ
instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds AT AEZREWAMEREBE(CIREREEITK
received, net of direct issue costs. &) FEhR o
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities and equity instrument issued by the Group

(continued)

(ii)

(iv)

)

Compound instruments

The component parts of compound instruments issued by the
Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At
the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated
using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-convertible
instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until extinguished
upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity
component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a
whole. This is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair
value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised
on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

AT R R MR ()
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

U]

(m)

Thiz Technology Group Limited

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at
call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement.

Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit
of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group wil
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the balance
sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are
expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Development expenses are also written off as incurred except for those
incurred for specific projects which are deferred where recoverability can
be foreseen with reasonable assurance and comply with the following
criteria: (i) the product or process is clearly defined and the costs are
separately identified and measured reliably; (i) the technical feasibility of
the product or process is demonstrated; (iii) the product or process will
be sold or used in-house; (iv) a potential market exists for the product or
process or its usefulness in the case of internal use is demonstrated; and (v)
adequate technical, financial and other resources required for completion
of the product or process are available.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over the expected economic useful lives of the products,
subject to a maximum period of five years commencing in the year when
the products are put into commercial production.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest Group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is
an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Thiz Technology Group Limited

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated
as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

() Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the income statement
because it excludes items of income or expenses that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

3.

F2SEHECR (18)

(o)

(p)

B KB EE (ARIEHE) RE (&)

AW ESEEREEEZ AERDEXRAREHE
BE-FPrzRSE - EHEEREER - BRARR
RensRBr A RREFNMSHREEREEER
FZAEZHERRMEZHAMRENERRE -

R EE(FREELEM) 2 KESBER
HIFESHE  ASZEE(FREELEN) 2RE
SRRLEEARESHE - BEBREZAERS
2R - EHEBEEEAEGLEER  ERHERT
REBBZEGEERDEE -

IMRBEBEEAGED  ZEECREELEN)
ZEEHSEERMEREEF A 2 KE S A8
2 EMEZ RSB R BEREE (HRELE
B R FERERREB RN ERE KA S
e BEBBEZED AR RKA - BRIFEEE
ENEM[EFE  £EERT  REBBRBEEHF
REMBEIRMEE - BERRBZELNRKNEBRR

R o MR E AN EHEEDIE - EULER
TREERNRIZELEEENERE -

tIa

PRI LR E B2 NS B B e IR 2 85 -

) EREE

& S B IR IR R BRI S S
o ERBOEFIE IR R 252 57
B AR BRI R E e AE R i A
2 REEBRA SRR HEER - W ATE
IR B R RIE R - ARE BB
AHABEAEEADBTAEE ORI
LTI




Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Taxation (continued)

(i)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZEN\F=A=+—H
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. FESFHIK(58)

(p) TWtIA (&)

(p) Taxation (continued)

(i) Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same

(i)

TR (&)

EEHRAEENABREEEARBREEY
HEANERER HE (REZZACD BN
BEREE BT (RBUX))FE - BELEHIEAR
EREEZFERRRRAEEMBHTR -
REERBRANDSBEEEERAB 2K
EEMHEZREERR

EERBEENABRBEE AR LAEHH
T2 RENAE R BRRERHENHBEE -
MRkEHRZEEERABRRAENERR

taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax — TR - I B AR EE RSB
assets and liabilities on a net basis. HEEZHMIEEERBERA SHEEE -

(q) Translation of foreign currencies (q) HNEZEEG

BEEERZERNMBRRANLTBLEME 2L
BRBEBE (R ) JE - SRR MIBEHREM
5 BRERBZAERMBARRSNET (AR
AR REaMIERR 225/ 8% JIE

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“functional currency”). For the purpose of the consolidated
financial statements, the results and financial position of each group entity
are expressed in Hong Kong dollar which is the functional currency of the
Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.

EREERI TR 2 M MERE - AR ERE AN
in currencies other than the functional currency (foreign currencies) BB (INE)EIT 2R SRS ABAZEEAR -
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the RE—#EH  HNESIBE2ERIBEE AEERR
AZERSHHRE - WINEIR AT ESEZ ISR
BERETATEZBBAZERSHIRE o LI
EIREL KA B2 IFEBIEE T TFEFIRH -

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions

transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(r)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise except for:

—  exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets
when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign
currency borrowings; and

—  exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable
to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign operation,
and which are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve
and recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the net investment.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets
and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are expressed in Hong
Kong dollar using exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during the
period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and
transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation
is disposed of.

Employees’ benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet
date.

(i) Pension obligations
Contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme as required

under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance are charged to income statement when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Thiz Technology Group Limited

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the year
in which they are incurred.

Related parties

Two parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly
or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals (being members
of key management personnel, significant shareholders and/or their close
family members) or other entities and include entities which are under the
significant influence of related parties of the Group where those parties are
individuals, and post-employment benefit plans which are for the benefit of
employees of the Group or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Share-based payment transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the
relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”).
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each
balance sheet date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
income statement for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except
for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

v

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an
expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification, which increases the total fair
value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if
they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in respect
of equity-settled awards and has applied HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled
awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested by 1 January
2005 and to those granted on or after 1 January 2005.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates
and other similar allowances and exclude value added tax or other sale
related taxes.

(i)  Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of goods have been transferred to the
buyers.

(i)  Income from training services is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the period of training.

(i) Income from consultancy services is recognised to the extent of
services rendered and according to the terms of the agreement.

(iv)  Income from licencing of Linux based software is recognised when
the Group’s entitlement to such payment has been established which
is upon the delivery of the holographic label to customers.

(v) Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis, taking into
account the principal amounts outstanding and the interest rates
applicable.
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4. TURNOVER 4. EFXE
Turnover represents the invoiced value of computer products sold and Group’s EEBIEMEENERIERE - UEDHAEE Linux
Linux based software and hardware products distributed and training income, WMEFIE M E QAEWA - YHBRE - WINERE
after allowances for returns and discounts and net of value added tax. An WERE SR AEEEEBEREMBAZSTAT ¢

analysis of the Group’s turnover and other revenue is as follows:

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$‘000 HK$000
FHET FAT
Turnover: e
Distribution of Group’s Linux based software A B Linux 2,390 2,385
Sale of computer products HEBKED 2,050 3,531
License income #HIBBA 57 -
Training income FHA 1,767 8,225
6,264 14,141
Other revenue and gain: HAb g A R zs
Interest income HEWA 152 8
Sundry income HMIBUA 697 12
Excess over the cost RS
of business combination (Note 36) AR A 55 (BizE36) - 815
Consultancy fee income AL ON 34 1,620
883 2,455
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i) on a
primary segment reporting basis, by business segment; and (i) on a secondary
segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately,
according to the nature of their operations and the products and services
they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments represented a strategic
business unit that offers products and services which are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other business segments. Summary
details of the business segments are as follows:-

(@) the software development segment engages in development and sales of
Linux based software and hardware products;

(b)  the computer products segment engages in B2B e-commerce in respect
of trading of computer products; and

(c) the training service segment engages in the provision of training services on
Linux based software.

Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are determined before intra-
group balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the
consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances
and transactions are between Group enterprises with a single segment. Inter-
segment pricing is based on similar terms as those available to other external
parties.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to
the segments based on the location of the customers, and assets are attributed
to the segments based on the location of assets.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Business segments

5. NEERN (&)

(@) R¥NE

Software Computer Training
development products services Consolidated
HABER ERER B R ]

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“EEN\EF ZTTHF ZZENF ZBBLE “BTN\F —TTLHHF ZBEN\F “TTLHF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$O000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000
TERT FAET TET FHET TER TAT TET FHET

Segment revenue:- AEHA

Sales to HET
external customers IR 2,107 2,385 | 2,890 3,531 1,767 8225 = 6,264 14,141
Segment results NEEE (25,230) (29,042) (633) (1,429) = (8,421) (2,755) (34,284) (33,226)
Interest income FIBMA 152 8
Unallocated income KOBBA 697 827
Unallocated expenses FAEFAX (5,788) (9,918
Loss from operations HERR (89,223) (42,309)
Finance costs BB (3,738) (6,159)
Loss before taxation BRI (42,961) (48,468)
Taxation BE - -
Loss for the year FREBE (42,961) (48,468)
Thiz Technology Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. NEEN (58)
(a) Business segments (continued) (a) EBNE(E)
Software development  Computer products Training services Unallocated Consolidated
BHEE ElER IR FAE &

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
ZREN\E CITLE CRENE CTRLE CRENE CTTLF CRBNE CITLF CRENE CITHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEn TET e  TET TEn  TEr TEm  TET  TER  TEn

Segment assets PEEE 16,906 38,282 731 804 1857 520 - -1 19494 4433
Unallocated assets AOREE - - - - - - 12114 1073 12114 1073
Total assets BESE 16,906 38282 731 804 1857 5250 12114 1073 31608 @ 45409
Segment liabilties PEER 14266 988 2189 1,689 6718 213 - - 17128 13710
Unallocated liabites AAREE - - - - - - 30932 86882 3992 8682
Total liabilties REEE 14266 983 2,189 1,689 673 213 | 30932 85882 = 57,060 @ 100,592
Other segment information: EtAEs -
Depreciation e 537 303 206 161 676 362 3 34 1452 860
Amortisation B 1,769 2,253 - - 178 164 - - 1,047 2417
Impairment loss on deferred ERRERE
development costs HEEE 19,415 - - - - - - - 19415 -
2814 3217
Capital expenditure BREX - 4,839 2 1552 104 5,204 - 2,107 125 13792
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. NEER(48)
(b) Geographical segments (b) ihign 4@
Revenue, assets and capital expenditure information for the Group’s REFRMEE D 2 WA~ BEREAEZER I
geographical segments is as follows: T
Hong Kong Taiwan PRC USA Vigtnam Denmark Japan Others Consolidated
B = 8 ] i BiE A& A4 G

10 bl 08 w 0 a 0 w 20 Pl 20 Pl 10 bl 08 w 0 w
EE CRGE CHME RME CBIE CRRE DR IRE BN CRRG CEE B ChME SR eI ERG cuN RS
HESO0 SO0 BKSO0 MDD BKSO0 RO HKSOO RSO0 HKSOMD RSO0 HWSOID KGN0 BRSO RGIOD HKSO0 HSOD HKSOO HKSOD
T OTH ™R TR OB TR TR M TR TR TR TR far R TR ™R TR

Seqret renie A
Sssioetendotones  EE)FEE - - LI VA N 1] 82 77 - kil - 680 ks w %0 %L 6%

Otersegrentrfometon- 2

Seqment assels 205 6,801 164 5312 2 0 - - - - - - - - 14519 L% HG8  549
Ceptel ependture BARR Al - 1R ol 0 - - - - - - - - - - 5 1370
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. BYERNIK
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T

Interest on borrowings wholly repayable within B R FRNEEHEE 2

five years: BEEFE
Interest on short term loan EEERAE 146 -
Effective interest expenses on convertible MR ERERF B (MEE30)

notes (Note 30) 107 1,513
Effective interest expenses on convertible AR EERERFMEM (M:F27)

preference shares (Note 27) 868 2,850
Interest paid to a director (Note 23(a)) BBEZIHE (HEE23() 622 556
Interest paid to the spouse of a director MEFZEBZARE (HiE24)

(Note 24) 161 163
Other loan interest (Note 22) HAEFRFE (Mt 22) 1,834 1,077

3,738 6,159
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

7. BRIRAIESE

PAT R MR ()

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H

2008 2007
—EETN\F ZTTLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Loss before taxation is arrived FRAR A S R A HIBR
at after charging:- TH&1E -
Cost of inventories sold BEETFERA 3,173 4,516
Cost of services rendered AR A 282 232
Depreciation e 1,452 1,337
Less: Amounts capitalised as deferred B RIEIE R R AR
development costs BrEAz e - (477)
1,452 860
Amortisation of deferred development costs  JFEAE R 2 Ak A # 4
(included in general and administrative (FIA—RRITEHRAX)
expenses) 1,947 2,417
Minimum operating lease payments:- CERE 2 REAERE
Land and buildings T REF 2,373 2,983
Less: Amounts capitalised as deferred B RIEIE R R AR
development costs BrEAz e - (1,266)
2,373 1,717
Auditor’s remuneration ZERM I & 320 300
Staff costs BIRA
(excluding directors’ emoluments):- (TMBREESEH:) -
Salaries and other benefits oL EMmERN 8,213 15,499
Pension scheme contributions BRIREFT B 1,316 1,407
Less: Amounts capitalised as deferred B RIEIE R R AR
development costs BrEAz e - (8,136)
9,529 8,770
Impairment loss on deferred RIEFREK A 2 REEE
development costs 19,415 -
Provision for obsolete and slow B ROR I E R
moving inventories 1,264 -
Bad debts written off TR 634 -
Impairment loss on trade FEUERIE
receivables BIEEE - 26,350
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEREHE
and equipment ol = 20 154
Net exchange loss FE 5 B 1R 558 49 470

BNESRIFSEEAR AR 2008 F3R
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EENSMITHRASZHME
(@) Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursued to the GEM Listing Rules and @@ RIBAERLEMBRAURESAGUEHE1611E  EF
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows:- ZHERENT
Salaries,
allowances Pension
Directors’ and other Discretionary schemes 2008
fees benefits Bonus contributions Total
e BUR EB#he —ZENE
EEHS HitgF BETRA HEGEN et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FiEx THER FTERT FER FERT
Executive directors: WITESE -
Wong Hoi Wong Tolg - 730 - 12 742
LinEnFu AR - 527 - - 527
Yuan Luke Tsu =EF 60 - - - 60
Non-executive directors:- FHITES :
Lin Chien Hsin RERT 60 - - - 60
Hsieh Yi Chen WEE 60 - - - 60
Wu Chiao Ru AI340 60 - - - 60
Independent non-executive directors: BUFNTES -
Chan Mei Sze BRE 52 - - - 52
Li Zhe gy 60 - - - 60
Chu Meng Chi KA 60 - - - 60
412 1,257 - 12 1,681
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. BEENSRITHRASZHE (/&)
(Continued)
(@) Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursued to the GEM Listing Rules (@ MBIREIZER EMRAIRBEBRAEAIE 16115 £F
and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows ZEEEBEET - (B)
(Continued):-
Salaries,
allowances Pension
Directors’ and other Discretionary schemes 2007
fees benefits Bonus  contributions Total
e mER BiRe e
ik Hi g RIBIEAL SRR At
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T FET FHET FET FHET
Executive directors:- WITES -
Wong Hoi Wong Tl - 989 - 12 1,001
Yuan Luke Tsu RHET - 60 - - 60
Lin En Fu MAEH - 232 - - 232
Non-executive directors:- FFHITESE :
Hsieh Yi Chen HEE 60 - - - 60
Wu Chiao Ru sy 60 - - - 60
Lin Chien Hsin M2 - 661 - - 661
Independent non-executive directors:- BFMTES
Li Zhe B 60 - - - 60
Ko Ming Tung, Edward =R 5 - - - 5
Chu Wei Jen REUE 55 - - - 55
Chu Meng Chi KA 55 - - - 55
295 1,042 - 12 2,049
There were no arrangements under which a director waived or agreed to RAFERBEFE  SIBEANEERLARER
waive any emoluments, and no incentive payment nor compensation for REMME 2 T8 - R SR TR R KB
loss of office was paid to any director during the current and prior years. U2 @EEZNTFEMNES REAFERBTFE -
No share option was granted to the directors during the current and prior M EBER T EMBRE -
years.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EBENSMRTIHRASZHME (/&)

(Continued)

(b) Details of emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals during the ) REFEARNAEEaFATBEREES(ZES L
year included two directors (2007: two directors) whose emoluments are F:MBES) ZINMe BRI E - REA -
set out above. Details of remuneration of the remaining three (2007: three) REBZHBT=%(Z2Z+F: =R RaHES
highest paid employee of the Group during the year are as follow: ZME 2 FIEEINAT ¢

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits & - %85 R A 12 F 924 715
Pension schemes contributions RIRET B ER 35 9
959 724
The aggregate emolument of each of the highest paid employees was less AFERBAFESRSFEE ZMeRESER
than HK$1,000,000 for the current and prior years. 1,000,000/8 7T °
9. PENSION SCHEMES 9. RINE5E
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund REBREEHEABRFEEN - AHBEEKS
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident BB 2 EERHEERERGIMABRKEREEI([#
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of those employees who are eligible to BestEl]) BB —TTTF A —HRE
participate in the scheme. The MPF Scheme has operated since 1 December W REMZEEEAHF SR —BHLIELEN - KA
2000. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic RIEARTESFERBEL ERESEW SR AR - 8%
salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become payable in SFBZEETRBLERES  BAKECZEESH
accordance with the rules of MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme B AKERRBESHEELZEEZTHRAZEHRESE
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered FrA
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.
The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are RPBEEZARANB AR ZEEELHERE TR
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local TEEZ P RBRSFTE - ZERBEWNBARELRT
municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a E—BOLmPRBARSFTEEL K - PRBIRSE
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The central BESNE2BERKEEZMARKSE - AEEBEH
pension scheme is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to FEERLINZ BIKEEFNEE -

all retired employees and the Group has no further obligations for the pension
payments on post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.

The Group’s contributions to pension schemes for the year ended 31 March REBEZZEN\F=-A=+—HLFE AEBEEHR
2008 amounted to HK$1,328,000 (2007: HK$1,419,000). REFT B30 1,328,0008 7T (ZFTZHF : 1,419,000/8

JT)
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10. TAXATION 10. fR18

(@  No provision for Hong Kong profits tax and PRC enterprises income tax of (@)

MR AEBERAFERZREBE - @I BERA

the Group has been made as the Group sustained losses for the year.

FEZBENEH L P EDEAEHEE -

Tax expense for the year can be reconciled as follows:- AEERBBHERAT -
2008 2007
—ZTN\F ZTTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Loss before taxation A RIE R (42,961) (48,468)
Tax effect at Hong Kong B17.5% 2 BEFIEH
profits tax rate of 17.5% MEFE BB E (7,518) (8,482)
Tax effect of non-deductible I
expenses/tax exempt revenue RRAZ TR E 1,295 656
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses FERHBEBZHGTE 7,797 8,279
Tax effect of different tax rate of REMBEEERRELE
subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions  Z KB AR TREFIR 2 2 (1,576) (465)
Tax effect of unrecognised decelerated REERB R R HRE
tax allowances R E 2 12
Tax expense BIES - -
(b) The components of recognised deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as (b) BWRELCHIEAE (BE) ZEKBHWT :
follows:-
Unutilised Deferred
tax development
losses costs Total
KEA JEFERR B
HIERSE 2&: st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHTT FHTT FT
At 1 April 2006 RZEZXFMNA—A 3,439 (8,439) -
Credit/(charge) for the year NEEA(HKR) 3,184 (3,184) -
At 31 March 2007 RZETLF=A=+—H 6,623 (6,623) -
Credit/(charge) for the year AEEFA(H0K) (3,821) 3,821 -
Effect of change in tax rate MRS TR (592) 592 -
At 31 March 2008 R=ZZEBNF=ZA=+—H 2,210 (2,210) -

BRI R BAR AR

2008 £
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10. TAXATION (Continued)

(©)

Thiz Technology Group Limited

The components of unrecognised deductible/(taxable) temporary

differences are as follows:—

10. iIA (4&)

(©) AREERAIHIMN, (FERT) ERIEZRMT

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FAT

Deductible temporary difference (note (i) 7] F0F &5 (FH%E (i)
Unutilised tax losses AREYABIARE 71,920 108,572
Decelerated tax allowances BRE R 231 219

Impairment loss on trade FEMARIE

receivables RIEEE 6,738 6,738
78,889 115,629

Taxable temporary difference (note (i) FERHEBFE (BT AE (i)
Accelerated tax allowances nREFEE (93) (90)
78,796 115,439

Notes:

(i)

Deductible temporary differences have not been recognised in these financial
statements owning to the absence of objective evidence in respect of the
availability of sufficient taxable profits that are expected to arise to offset against
the deductible temporary differences.

The unutilised tax losses accumulated in the PRC and Taiwan subsidiaries
amounted to HK$49,569,000 (2007: HK$37,449,000) would expire in five years
from the respective year of loss. The unutilised tax losses accumulated in the
Hong Kong subsidiaries amounted to HK$22,351,000 (2007: HK$71,123,000)
can be carried forward indefinitely. As at 31 March 2008, tax losses aggregated
to HK$9,904,000 (2007: HK$23,230,000) have been recognised as deferred tax
assets.

Taxable temporary differences have not been recognised in these financial
statements owning to immateriality.
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10. TAXATION (Continued)

(©)

New tax law of the PRC

On 16 March 2007, the National People’s Congress promulgated the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “New Tax Law”), which became effective
from 1 January 2008.

According to the new tax law, the standard enterprise tax rate for
enterprises in the PRC will be reduced from 33% to 25%. However, a
“high-technology company” will continue to be entitled to a preferential tax
treatment. The detailed application of the newly introduced preferential tax
policies have yet to be made public.

Under the New Tax Law which became effective from 1 January 2008
and in accordance with “Notification of the State Council on Carrying
out the Transitional Preferential Policies concerning Enterprise Income
Tax” promulgated by the State Council on 26 December 2007, an entity
established before 16 March 2007 that was entitled to preferential tax
treatment prior to the New Tax Law will be subject to a transitional tax rate
beginning in period 2008 (“Transitional Tax Rate”) before the new corporate
income tax rate of 25% applies. For companies currently enjoying a
reduced tax rate of 15%, the Transitional Tax Rate is 18%, 20%, 22%, 24%
and 25% in 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 onwards respectively. The
tax rate will transit to the standard tax rate of 25% for entities with current
tax rate of 24% effective from 1 January 2008.

The enactment of the New Tax Law is not expected to have any financial
effect on the amounts accrued in the balance sheet in respect of current
tax payable. The deferred tax assets/liabilities of subsidiaries in the PRC are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income,
based on the Transitional Tax Rate.
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10. W18 (4&)

@

BT ES

WZZ2ZEF=A+RAE 2BRARKKRKSHEM
PREGEMAEBATHBIE]D - ZBER-FTN
F-A—BEM-

REBEFPUL - PREGEZIRELEH KK H33% 5
BE25% - A [BRHREX | B EEZHES
BB o b E @B HIeAN AR R A -

BEBE-ZTN\F—A—BRERZHBE - RIR
BEERR -E2+F+ - A -+ BEMBZ(AK
RERERCEMSHBEERBRABH) - B
ZETHF=AHNBRIKY - WRETBUEE AT
ZHEEERGBCERENICEMSHRE25%
ERRTE =TT\ FHERAR 2 BERE(RER
K EMEERSR - RIEZH15%REHA AR
—EENF - ZTTNF 2T -FTF - ZFT——
ERZZE-ZFR BERESFNR18%  20%
22% ~ 24% 2 25% ° shiEE —ZT T N\F—H—HiE
R BETE 4% BN ERBRCERT S -
MEAGIBEERERE25% ©

EMHFP A HIEENEERRRNERENEH
BREEZ RBTSEEXTMRBZE - PENE
RAMRIET A E E /B (519 A E T8 00 A A e R
B A BB (EFBER ) 5 E -
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

AT R R MR ()

31 March 2008
-

11.

12.

13.

Thiz Technology Group Limited

—ZEEN\F=A=+—H

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Of the Group’s loss attributable to the equity holders of the Company, a loss
of HK$21,298,000 (2007: HK$16,899,000) has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year (2007:
Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 31 March
2008 is based on the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
of HK$42,848,000 (2007: HK$48,468,000) and weighted average of
1,025,959,969 (2007: 441,985,675 (adjusted from 306,167,170)) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

No diluted loss per share is presented as the outstanding share options,
convertible notes and convertible preference shares were anti-dilutive.
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11.

12.

13.

RREIGEE

TERAREE AELAEEEHEF - 21,298,000 (=ZF
T4 ¢ 16,899,000 70) BENR AR T M B HRR AL
}E o

BRI

ARARRAFERGRERTREARE (2T L4F:
&) -

sREE

REEZZT)\F=A=T—HIEFE SRELEE
TIRAR R EIRAFE B ARIEE 42,848,000/ T (= F
T4 48,468,000 7T ) R E R E T MNE T LR
[%1,025,959,969 % ( = T T + 4 : 441,985,675 ( ¥
306,167,170 R{EHFE) ) 51 H -
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H
=

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% - MER®
Computer Office Furniture Motor
equipment equipment and fixtures vehicle Total
BHRE WOERE BRAREE "E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHET THET THET
The Group REE
Cost:- PR
At 1 April 2006 RZZZENA—H 2,601 1,663 1,272 242 5,778
Acquisition of a WEE—EE AR
subsidiary (Note 36) (FI5E36) 478 8 - - 486
Additions AE 1,014 106 227 - 1,347
Disposals HE - (528) (79) - (607)
Exchange adjustments i N S 140 18 39 3 200
At 31 March 2007 R-ZZ+E=A=+—H 4,233 1,267 1,459 245 7,204
Additions NE 50 61 14 - 125
Disposals HE - (15) (30) (66) [111)
Exchange adjustments b 5 352 124 134 27 637
At 31 March 2008 R-ZEN\E=A=+-H 4,635 1,437 1,577 206 7,855

Accumulated depreciation:- ZEHE -

At 1 April 2006 RZTEFMA—A 1,562 794 443 124 2,923
Acquisition of a WEE—EE AR

subsidiary (Note 36) (FI5E36) 100 1 - - 101
Charge for the year rEEHE 777 251 266 43 1,337
Written back on HEEM

disposals - (248) (35) - (283)
Exchange adjustments 0 N S 93 12 18 - 123
At 31 March 2007 R-ZZ+HE=A=+—H 2,532 810 692 167 4,201
Charge for the year AEEHE 926 220 259 47 1,452
Written back on HEER

disposals - (12) (15) (36) (63)
Exchange adjustments B3Rk 188 77 63 20 348
At 31 March 2008 R-BENF=A=1+—H 3,646 1,095 999 198 5,938

Net book value:- REFE :

At 31 March 2008 R-BENE=A=1+-A 989 342 578 8 1,917
At 31 March 2007 R-ZZ+FE=A=+—H 1,701 457 767 78 3,003
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

AT R R MR ()

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=-A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

14. BEEE (1&)

Computer Office
equipment equipment Total
ERE WMAERE wast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
The Company AT
Cost:- PR
At 1 April 2008, RZZEZRFMNA—H
31 March 2007 and —ET+F=ZA=+—H
31 March 2008 ZNEFE=ZA=+—H 127 13 140
Accumulated depreciation:- REHTE ¢
At 1 April 2008, RZZETRFMNA—H
31 March 2007 and T E=A=1—H
31 March 2008 ;=TT NF=A=+—H 127 13 140

Net book value:-
At 31 March 2008

At 31 March 2007

BRELFE -
R-BENFE=ZA=+—H -

R_EZ+F=A=+—H -
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H
=

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. PGPt B A Sl 2 iEm
The Company
N
2008 2007
—ZTN\F —TTLF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETMARAD - A 21 21
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL KB A B F0E 101,477 92,453
101,498 92,474
Less: provision for impairment loss SIB SRR (65,600) (47,900)
35,898 44,574
The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are interest—free, unsecured and have FEYL(FERH) B R RIFIE R L « MR AR T
no fixed terms of repayment. B o
During the year, the directors reviewed the financial position of subsidiaries and FRN - EERTHBARZHBRATBELZSHEBEA
identified that the subsidiaries suffered continuous net losses for past several ARBEREHERSHEFEREZSEWBRARAN=-Z
years and subsidiaries had net liabilities of HK$65,600,000 as at 31 March 2008. ZN\F= A=+— A58 EF{E65,600,000F 7T
Accordingly, an impairment loss of HK$17,700,000 was recognised for the year It + 17,700,000 8T 2 M EBEEREE ST N\F=
ended 31 March 2008. A=+—HILFE T UAER -
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AR R M= (48

31 March2008 —ZEN\F=A=+—H
=

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 15. FRibBiB R B i (58)

The details of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2008 were as follows:—

RZZEENF=ZA=+—H8 " HBRAEIZFBENT :

Place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued of equity
registration and ordinary shares/ attributable to
Name of company operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
i) v ERTLER PN
REEE MR & i B AEMEAEE FEERERDL FTEXK
Direct Indirect
HiE A
Thiz Technology British Virgin Islands Us$ 100 100 - Investment holding
Group Holdings REEXHS 10037T TEER
Limited
Thizlinux Inc. British Virgin Islands US$ 1 - 100 Investment holding
RBRERHES = REER
Thizbiz Inc. British Virgin Islands US$ 1 - 100 Investment holding
RBRERHES = REER
Thiz.Com Inc. British Virgin Islands US$200,000 - 100 Investment holding
RERELHE 200,000 7T REER
Thiz.Com (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
Limited B 10,000 % 7T and provision of
BN e e i (%) management
BRAA services
REER RIRHEER
BR%
PC Media, Inc. United States US$50,000 - 100 Dormant
of America Common stock B
e 50,0003 7T
Eeg il
Thiz Design Group Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of
Limited BE 10,0008 7T management
services
hefE IR RS

70 Thiz Technology Group Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

31 March 2008
-

PAT R MR ()

“EEN\F=A=t—H

15. PGB E A S i (1)

Place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued of equity
registration and ordinary shares/ attributable to
Name of company operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
Eaiija A ERTEER NG|
DNEER FEM R & i B AEfEAEE FEERERDL TEEK
Direct Indirect
=k:3 [SiE3
Thizlinux Laboratory Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Development and
Limited BB 10,000 7T sales of Linux
B ZR R AR A R based software
products and
provision of
related training
services
3% K H & Linux
Y ERRIRH
B BRE RS
Thizbiz Global Trade Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Development, sales
Limited BB 10,000 7T and distribution of
BB S5 ER AR Linux based
software and
hardware products
- HERDH
Linux SRAE {7 fh
Thiz Electronics Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Dormant
Company Limited BB 10,0007 7T AT
BNE & F R AR AT
The Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Dormant
Exchange Limited BB 10,0007 7T AT
REZGFERIDF
The Recruitment Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Dormant
Database Limited HE 10,0007 7T BT
BRI AR AR
Thiz.Com (China) British Virgin Islands US$H1 - 100 Dormant
Limited RBELHE 17T HEET

BRI R BAR AR

2008 £




Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=-A=+—H
=

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 15. FRibBiB R B i (58)

Thiz Technology Group Limited

Place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued of equity
registration and ordinary shares/ attributable to

Name of company operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
A ERTLER PN
REEE SR & i B AEMEAEE FEERERDL FTEXK
Direct Indirect
HiE [SE3
Institute of Thiz Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Provision of training
Technology Limited B 100,000 77T services on Linux
BN R 2B B R A 7 based software
A Linux 8L 2
SRS
HEBE RS EAR Taiwan NT$1,700,000 - 100 Development of
MERHARAF] a 1,700,000 %7 & % Linux based
BEDRT software products
and sales of
computer and Linux
based products
I8 Linux B2
on M 4 B
T Linux Z &
Beijing ThizLinux PRC, limited US$250,000 - 100 Development of
Software Co, Limited liability company 250,000 37T Linux based
I TR B A1 fE 5e Hr i FE BREEAF software products
BRAA FAEE Linux EX1F 2 &
ThizLinux Software PRC, limited US$1,250,000 - 100 Sales of Linux based

(Shenzhen) Company
Limited
BNesE it CRYD BRAF)

liability company
PR BREERA

ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H
=

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 15. FiibBi B R B iR (58)

Place of Nominal value Percentage
incorporation/ of issued of equity
registration and ordinary shares/ attributable to
Name of company operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
Eaiija A ERTEER NG|
DNEER FEM R & i B AEfEAEE FEERERDL TEEK
Direct Indirect
=k:3 [SiE3
Beijing Thiz Junye PRC, limited US$150,000 - 100 Development of
Software Co, Ltd liability company 150,000 %7T Linux based
L REIREXEEHEARAR B BREMEQR software products
and provision of
training services on
Linux based
software
R Linux $X1H 2= &
R Linux 804
2355 AR
Dalian Thizlinux PRC, limited RMB1,000,000 - 90 Development and
Technology Institute liability company AR ¥ 1,000,000 7T sales of Linux based
Co, Limited R BRETAR software products
A BRI FE Fe B gk B3 R85 Linux
HEGARAF YHER
FALEF Linux A PRC, other local RMB400,000 - 90 Provision of training
22PN enterprise AR 400,00070 services on Linux
R EfAE R based software
R4 Linux 804
2355 AR
RN R e 52 Hr ki PRC, limited US$150,000 - 100 Provision of training
ABRAR liability company 150,000 % 7T services on Linux
FE - BREEAR based software
R4 Linux 804
235 HI RS
Thizlinux Software PRC, limited US$150,000 - 100 Development of
(Kunshan) Company liability company 150,000 % 7T Linux based
Limited FE - BREEAR software products
BB I FE 7o A gk i S Linux E01F 72 @
(BW)BRAF
R e K B PRC, other local RMB200,000 - 90 Provision of training
= BT S 3 224 enterprise AR 200,000 7T services on Linux

R HREDE

based software
PR Linux B
2355 AR TS

BNESRIFSEEAR AR 2008 F3R




Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=-A=+—H
=

16. DEFERRED DEVELOPMENT COSTS 16. iR EBAZE AN
The Group R&EE
HK$’000
FHTT
Cost:- AR
At 1 April 2006 R-ZEZXFNA—A 27,949
Additions i 12,922
Exchange adjustments FE 3 8 706
At 31 March 2007 RZZEZLF=A=+—H 41,577
Exchange adjustments P 5,2 2,632
At 31 March 2008 R=ZBENF=ZA=+—H 44,209
Accumulated amortisation 2t RRE -
and impairment:-
At 1 April 2006 RZEEXFNA—A 5,353
Charge for the year NFEEH 2,417
Exchange adjustments IE H A% 46
At 31 March 2007 RZZZ+F=A=1+—H 7,816
Charge for the year A 1,947
Impairment loss AR 19,415
Exchange adjustments Ve 5,2 273
At 31 March 2008 R=ZBBENF=ZA=+—H 29,451
Carrying amount:- BRTEI(E :
At 31 March 2008 R-ZZENF=A=+—H 14,758
At 31 March 2007 RZZEZLF=A=+—H 33,761
During the vyear, the directors reviewed the carrying amounts of the deferred FR - BEFE R HRERERAR 2 REE T #E ST
development costs and identified the future economic benefits generated BRI E mATE £ 2 RREE R & i E R E 2 R
from certain developed software products to be less than their carrying value. F{E > At » 19,415,000 8 T2 BEBEEREE=Z
Accordingly, an impairment loss of HK$19,415,000 was recognised for the year ZNF=ZA=+—HUEFETUER(ZZZTLF : &) -

ended 31 March 2008 (2007: HK$Nil).
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H
=

17. GOODWILL 17. BE
The Group REB
HK$'000
FHT
Cost: AR
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007 REZBEXFNA—H Z2ZTLHF=A=+—H
and 31 March 2008 E—ZENF=A=+—H 686
Accumulated impairment:- 25HRE
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007 REZBEXRNFNA—H ZBZTLF=A=+—H
and 31 March 2008 E—ZENF=R=+—H (686)
Carrying amount:- BRTE(E -
At 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 R-BENF=A=+—H
R—ZEE+F=H=+—8 -
The directors estimated the carrying amount of the cash-generated unit (‘CGU”) EEUEAEEEEGANEMBHEENERERKZ
of sale of computer products business to which goodwill belong on the value in ReELSEN((ReEASEMN]) 2REE  UETHAT
use basis and identified that the future economic benefits generated from CGU FERSELBNAMEEAZ RREEFNZEREE K
to be less than their carrying value of CGU in prior years. Accordingly, a full & - Bt - 686,000/ T2 2EUREFBIBERNBEFE
impairment loss of HK$686,000 was recognised in prior years. TUARERR ©
18. INVENTORIES 18. 7§
The Group
TEE
2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Linux based software products package Linux BN EmER 464 1,554
Phone cards and product package BHERREREE 442 408
Software training manuals and materials BRI BA S AR 87 62
Computer hardware and accessories B AERE A R 1 1
994 2,025
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense is as WRRAXCFESE2ANNT :
follows:
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEFEZERERE $ 3,173 $ 4516
Provision for obsolete and B RBHTT B E
slow moving inventories 1,264 -
$ 4,437 $ 4516
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AR R M= (48

31 March 2008

—TT\F=A=+-R

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. [EWRERIE

The Group
S 3L
2008 2007
—RENE ZETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TAET
Trade receivables FEUBRIR $ 53,201 $ 55,292
Less: Allowance for doubitful debts B R (52,700) (62,700)
$ 501 $ 2,502
(@) The average credit period to the Group’s customers is 30-60 days. As at @ AKEHRTEPZFHEENAR0-60H - R-TZ

31 March 2008, the ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables net of

NEZA=1+—H0 REXZAFEZRTEEREY
FRIE (EMMRARRER) 2 REOTOT -

allowance for doubtful debts, based on the transaction date was as follows:

2008 2007
—EENF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAT
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 195 235
31 - 60 days 31E260H 18 21
61 — 90 days 61290H 56 155
91 - 180 days 91180 H 16 1,240
181 — 360 days 1812360 H 49 749
Over 360 days 360 B k£ 167 192
501 2,692
() The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, (o) FARERE(BRESERERBIENS) 2 Z8m
including both specific and collective loss components, are as follows: T
The Group
AEE
2008 2007
—BBN\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At beginning of year F9 $ 52,700 26,350
Impairment loss recognised R ZAEESE - 26,350
At end of year FR $ 52,700 52,700
At 31 March 2008, the Group’s trade receivables of HK$52,700,000 RZZZN\F=ZA=+—H  £&%E 252,700,000
(2007: $52,700,000) were individually determined to be impaired. The BIL(ZZT T 52,700,000 7T ) 2 AR IEH

EAEEAHBRE - &5 B R ERBIEEER
MHEREZEERR  BEBEBRAZSEMIE
Z AU E T E AR o Bt - 52,700,000 47T (ZF
T4 ¢ 52,700,000 870) 2 RERFFEREEREASF
FLARER o ALENER X FE SIS G AR -

individually impaired receivables related to customers that were in financial
difficulties and management assessed that the collectability of receivables
is remote. Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts of
HK$52,700,000 (2007: HK$52,700,000) was made. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H
=

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. [EURERIE (£8)
(c) The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor () WELRIERERALIRBEZ EWKIREZREKR
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: DM :
The Group
AEH
2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Neither past due nor impaired e Bl slORE $ 140 $ 218
Less than 1 month past due B ER D1 1E A 129 38
1 to 3 months past due w1 £ 3@ A - 161
Over 3 months past due BEASME A LA £ 232 2,175
$ 501 2,592
Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide 18% 425 58 HA SR (B 2 JIE R TH B 3l N B R SRR ER 2
range of customers for whom there was no recent history of default. ZHREFHH -
Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number BEERBEERESRBEASEFRITE
of independent customers that have a good track record with the Group. XU ERBURFAYH - BERTLR TR
Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment EBRE AR ERERIUELREREHRZELHE
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there have not been BDWAR BRI BEUE - MBARZSERIEL R
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered B - ARE W BB S AT A EMER -
fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.
20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. RERRITHER
At 31 March 2008, included in the Group’s cash and bank balances were RZZEZNF=ZA=+—0 AKE RS RIBTERF
amounts of approximately HK$346,000 (2007: HK$763,000) denominated FR#47346,000 8 7T (ZZZ L4 : 763,000 7T) AARE
in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and kept in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible into (TARB D &S WERRHE - ARBTAIEBGR
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control EmEY - A REBEPREINEBTRRAT REE - E
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign RNEEEMTE  AEEEABREETINERER 2
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other RITHRMARBEREMEE -

currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March 2008

—ZEEN\F=A=+—H

21.

22.

23.

24,

78 Thiz Technology Group Limited

TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables at the balance sheet date:-

21. [EfTERIA

REEE B2 BRNRBEZREOAT -

The Group
REE

2008 2007
—E2EN\F =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
0 - 30 days 0ZE30H 70 218
61 - 90 days 61290H 138 -
91 - 180 days 91£180H 112 -
Over 360 days 360 HEA 21 103
341 321

OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUALS

At 31 March 2008, loan payables of HK$24,757,000 (2007: HK$21,163,000)
included in the Group’s other payables, deposits received and accruals
are unsecured, interest bearing at prime rate per annum and repayable on
demand. Interest charged during the year amounted to HK$1,834,000 (2007:
HK$1,077,000).

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

() The amount due to Mr. Lin Chien Hsin of HK$8,710,000 (2007:
HK$8,710,000) is unsecured, interest bearing at prime rate per annum
and repayable on demand. Interest charged during the year amounted to
HK$622,000 (2007: HK$556,000).

(o)  The amount due to Mr. Wong Hoi Wong of HK$15,000 (2007: HK$14,000)
is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

AMOUNT DUE TO THE SPOUSE OF A DIRECTOR
The amount due is unsecured, interest bearing at prime rate calculated on

a monthly basis and repayable on demand. Interest charged during the year
amounted to HK$161,000 (2007: HK$163,000).

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

22. Efh[EfTRIA ~ EWiRE KBSt mRIE

RZETZNF=ZA=+—8 GBEAREEEMEN
FRIB - ERTHRE R WIZS 224,757,000 L (Z 2 F
+4F 121,163,000 70) 2 BN ERAEER - LEF
SEEFRFBALBIREREE - FAXNZFE R
1,834,000 (ZET£4F : 1,077,000/ 7T) °

23. BIEEMIA

(a) FEATAREF 54 2 FIES, 710,000 L (Z T T+
£ 18,710,000 7T) + JHEEEA - R EEFFE
FHERBERENRER - AFEBNFIBA622,00045
TL(ZZEZT4F : 556,000/87T) °

(b) FERTEREAEZKIBI5000BT(ZFTLF
14,00087T) » JHEEIR - R ERBIRERERE -

24. BT ESEBARIA

JEf 2 FRIB TR IR - IR RE R AR B (E AE R
B RBIREREE - AFEEENFE A 161,000 (=
T4 1 163,00087T) °




Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H
=

25. TAX PAYABLE 25. [EMmRIA
IR T RE /BT F2FERRAAFRZ
STZRFNAZTNABREZ LM BREAARZ—
HWBRRNERFAREAERER((EERERD B
EREBREERIRTARTE - YK RFET AR
to the Commissioner’s claim for the sum of HK$6,480,000 being profits tax 6,480,000 T * BRI RFHR —TT—F ZTT=F
payable by TLL for the years of assessment 2001/02 and 2002/03. RZZBT_F /T -FEFEREMNZAEHIELZ
FPR -

As disclosed in the annual report 2006/07 and the Company’s announcement
on 29 September 2005, there was a judgement against TLL, a subsidiary of
the Company, in a legal action instituted in the District Court of Hong Kong by
the Commissioner of Inland Revenue Department (“IRD”) against TLL in relation

ENEBB KR BEEERMNERM INENF B8
#957,127,000/87C - Fi 2 FE %}imﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂmu
BERUAFEZMBRERANDIELEE - HN_TZ
NE AR RFEEERERBE - ",Hmaﬁﬂitéi B

The aggregate amount of the tax liabilities due to the IRD and the profits tax
surcharges and interest was approximately HK$7,127,000. Full provision for
the profits tax in dispute and related interest and surcharges has been made
in the financial statements in the prior years. In 2006, TLL had agreed with the

IRD to settle the outstanding payment by installment. As at 31 March 2008, the HeRZZEZENF=ZA=+—8  —FEENZHER
tax payable after one year is classified as a non-current liability in the financial B HRANDEAIEREAE -
statements.
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. BRI
Number of shares HK$’000
BRHHE FHERT
Authorised:— VERE ¢ —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each RZZETRFNA—BEREEC1ET
(the “ordinary shares”) at 1 April 2006 2 Empk ([EmaR ) 800,000,000 80,000
Increase in authorised capital VETE MR N 500,000,000 50,000
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at R-BE+LE=ZA=+—-HAR-ZBENE
31 March 2007 and 31 March 2008 =A=1+—-HEREE1BTZEER 1,300,000,000 130,000
Issued and fully paid:— BETRER - —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at RIBEREZA=Z+—BR-_ZTT+tF
31 March 2006 and 31 March 2007 —A=+—HBEREEIETZEBR 306,167,160 30,617
Issue of ordinary shares:— BEITERERK
Conversion of convertible notes (note (a)) ARSI (Mt (a)) 90,909,090 9,091
Conversion of convertible preference HARAARRE LR (4777 (b))
shares (note (b)) 300,000,000 30,000
Open offer of share subscription (note (c)) NRBERN R (H:t(c)) 348,538,125 34,853
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at R-BENF=A=+-—H
31 March 2008 BREEIBIZEER 1,045,614,375 104,561
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])
AT R R M = (48

31 March2008 —ZEZEN\F=A=+—H
=

26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 26. BRI (£8)

Notes: MisE -

(@  On 1 June 2007, the convertible notes with principal amount of HK$10,000,000 were (8 R-TTLFA—H A&5A10,000,00047T .2 AT
converted into 90,909,090 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at the conversion price of RS AR(E0.11 78 7T 5,#2 90,909,000 A4 F X E1E 0.1 BT
HK$0.11. ZER o

()  On 28 June 2007, a total of 300,000,000 convertible preference shares were () RK=ZTZ+FxA=+/\A - A+£300,000,000 7] A& E
converted into 300,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at the conversion price of SeRR A RRE(E0.1 47T 2 H 4R E K #2 300,000,000 A% & A% TE1
HK$0.1 each. H0.1 BTz Eidk o

)  Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at general meeting on 25 September ) WRERZTLENA-THABREAZ BBz —BLEHE
2007, the Company issued 348,538,125 ordinary shares at HK$0.1 each by way of RER  ARFIEFBEERMRIBARMERE —RBEERHG
an open offer at an issue price of HK$0.1 per share on the basis of 1 offer share for ZEAE . DARBEFRAREITETREERM 01 BITE
every 2 existing shares held. The net proceeds amounted to HK$33,694,000. The 77348,538,125 kAR EI(E 0.1 B T2 LM% - TS ZIEF5E
gross proceeds of HK$34,853,000 and share issue expenses of HK$1,159,000 were 433,694,000/ 7T 15 284 5834,853,00078 7T K& B 1TAR
credited to share capital and debited to share premium respectively. 5532 1,159,000 7T 5 BlIEH AR A AKX R AR 19 5 (8 o

27. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES 27. ol AR B e AR
The Group and the Company REBRKAT)
Number of shares HK$’000
RHEE FExT
Authorised: ERE
Non-voting convertible preference shares RZZEAFUA—BERAMBE1ELZ
of HK$0.1 each (the “CPS’) IR R AR B SR
at 1 April 2006 (ﬁ?ﬁ;ﬂﬁ@%ﬂ%) 400,000,000 40,000
Increase in authorised capital HANSETE AR AR 500,000,000 50,000
CPS at 31 March 2007 and RIZBZLF=ZA=+—HRZZZENF
31 March 2008 ZA=t+—HZUBRRELR 900,000,000 90,000
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27. CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (Continued)

The movement of the CPS is set out as follows:

PAT R MR ()

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H

27. —J}%HR{E%HR (n\E)

AR ST EFSIT :

Number Equity Liability
of shares component component Total
RHEE ERds aEHS st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2006 RZZETRFMNA—H 340,000,000 6,541 29,655 36,196
Effective interest expenses (Note 6)  EBEFI &R (17t 6) - - 2,850 2,850
At 31 March 2007 RZETLF=A=+—A 340,000,000 6,541 32,505 39,046
Effective interest expenses (Note 6)  EBEFILFHX (#/:46) - - 868 868
Interest payable transferred to EREEARENRR
other payables FER R - - (930) (930)
Converted to ordinary shares HmEaik
(Note 26(b)) (Biz#26 (b)) (300,000,000) (5,752) (26,987) (32,739)
At 31 March 2008 R-BBNF=A=+—H 40,000,000 789 5,456 6,245

During the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007, the effective interest rates
were 7.75% and 9.5% for the two tranches of the CPS respectively.

The fair value of the liability component of the CPS at 31 March 2008,
determined based on the present value of the estimated future cash outflows
discounted at the prevailing market rate for an equivalent non-convertible loan at
the balance sheet date, approximates the carrying value.

The CPS are unlisted and their rights, privileges and restrictions are set out
below:

Dividend

The holders of the CPS shall be entitled to receive a fixed cumulative dividend at
the rate of 2.0% per annum at its issue price.

Conversion Rights

From the date of the issue of the CPS and up to a period of 3 years thereafter,
if at any day the average of the closing prices of the Ordinary Shares quoted on
the Stock Exchange over the preceding 30 consecutive dealing days is 200%
or above of the issue price of the CPS, either the Company or the holders of
the CPS may within 7 days by written notice to the other party request for
conversion of the CPS into the Ordinary Shares. If the conversion right is not
exercised within the 7-day period, such right will automatically lapse after the
7-day period. Save for the aforesaid, the holders of the CPS have no right to
request the Company to convert the CPS into the Ordinary Shares. After the
third anniversary of the issue date of the CPS, the Company shall be entitled (but
not obliged) to convert the CPS into the Ordinary Shares.

REBE-_ZZN\FR-_ZETLF=A=+—-BIFE
A ARREEEMEB D 2 BEFED R RT7.75% K
9.5% °

%*§§A¢:H:+*E'T%%@%%ZE1%“
2 ATEREASHATARERREE B 2R G745
?'JTFﬁ%"“Zﬁuﬁkxfﬁﬁmngﬁ@%m) SR AR

o+

He

AR R ST B T S EAR R R R RIS

R

ARRE S RSB A B A TR AR B eIk 2 31T
B2 [ W ElE RIEALS, o

BIRF

AR iE

BEITAHER B BRI FHRE - MAMIRE—RER
FFf 2 ATEAE 30 A% 5 B EBAW T (B 2 T EEE)
o} HR 38 AR AR B ST AR B 1 T8 2 200% » AR RSk AT AR 2
ERFBEAZE@M—FAR7TARNEBRMAR —FEK
AR E S AR R TR o MIRAREARN 7 BZHIRA
1718 MR 7 BZBIR 2R BRI - B XAt
O AR B AR A B B SRA R R AR E R
AT R - IMRERRBETERZBFER AR
AR (BEER) BARRE I AT EK
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-

27.

28.
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CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (Continued)
Conversion Ratio

Conversion will be at 1 Ordinary Share for each CPS in all cases of conversion
(subject to adjustments in the event of, inter alia, subdivisions or consolidations
of the Ordinary Shares and/or the CPS).

Conversion Restriction

Each holder of CPS may exercise his Conversion Right (when such right arises)
in whole but not in part to convert all his CPS into the Ordinary Shares. No
fractional Ordinary Shares shall be issued upon conversion of the CPS. In the
event of any fraction of a whole number of the Ordinary Shares in the case of a
conversion, such fraction shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number
of the Ordinary Shares.

Transferability

The CPS are transferrable with the prior consent of the board of Directors and
subject to the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Voting Rights

Holder(s) of the CPS shall not be entitled to attend or vote at any general meeting
of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to ordinary resolutions passed on 5 August 2004, the share option
scheme adopted on 6 July 2001 (the “Old Scheme”) was terminated with
immediate effect provided that options which have been granted and remain
outstanding shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of
issue and the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
has adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) pursuant to a
resolution passed on the same date.

The purpose of this New Scheme is to motivate the eligible participants for their
contributions to the Company and help the Company in retaining its existing
employees and recruiting additional employees and to provide them with a
direct economic interest in attaining the long term business objectives of the
Company. Eligible participants of the New Scheme include any employee,
proposed employee (including any executive and non-executive directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries), adviser, consultant, agent, contractor, customer
and supplier of any member of the Group.

The New Scheme shall remain in force for ten years from 5 August 2004

during which the directors may make offer to grant share options to eligible
participants.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares available for issue under options which may
be granted under the New Scheme adopted by the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue. The maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-
month period up to the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue
at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of the above limit must
be subject to shareholders’ approval with such participant and his associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.

If options are granted to a connected person (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) or his associates, the granting of such options will be subject to all
independent non-executive directors’ (excluding independent non-executive
director who is a grantee) approval; where options are proposed to be granted
to a connected person who is also a substantial shareholder or independent
non-executive director or any of their respective associates which will result
in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted or to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person under the New Scheme in the past 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant (1) exceeding 0.1% of the
total issued shares for the time being; and (2) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess
of HK$5,000,000, the granting of such options will be subject to approval of
the independent shareholders of the Company taken on a poll. All connected
persons will abstain from voting (except that any connected person may vote
against the resolution).

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as
consideration for the grant. The option will be offered for acceptance for a period
of 5 days from the date on which the option is granted. The exercise period of
the share options granted is determinable by the directors and shall not be more
than ten years from the date of grant and the directors may provide restrictions
on the exercise of the option during the period an option may be exercised.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the New Scheme shall be such price as the board of directors at their
absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the grant, which must be a trading day; (i)
the average closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a share.
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28. BB IESt 8l (18)

RBA QR FTERAF T SR 2 BAEM A T #IT 2%
HNER=EE - ARTEBBEHITRG 2 10% ° RIRH
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 28. BRI S (18)
No options was granted under the New Scheme. Details of the outstanding W AR BT 8 DT I - IRIBERTEIR L H AR
share options granted under the Old Scheme which continue to be exercisable I ET] AT 2 AR 2 BT ¢

are set out below:-

(a) Movements in share options (a) BRESEF
Number of options
BREE
2008 2007
—EENF —ZTLF
At 1 April RUA—H 194,211 194,211
Adjustment for completion of open offer ek AR & 2 R 40,784 -
Options vested at 31 March REZA=Z+—HRBZBERE 234,995 194,211
(b) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at balance sheet (b) MESEBGKRERMNGARTEZEBIREZIER
date
2008 2007
—EENF ZETLHF
Exercise Exercise
price Number price Number
Date of grant Exercise period per share of options per share of options
=kt T BRITEE BRERE BRITEE RERRESE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(note i) (note i) (note i)
(Hiati) (Hiati) (KizEi)
21 November 2001 30 June 2002 to 29 June 2012
—TT—F+—R8 ZETFRA=THE
—+—H —T-—HFXAZtAhH 2.2 234,995 2.66 194,211
Note: st -
() The exercise price and outstanding number of options have been adjusted for (i) 1TEERERITEERESBEEREAARAR-TZL
the open offer of the Company’s shares on 25 September 2007. FNAZTRZBRO 2 AEABEELRAE -
(c) No share option was granted during the year (2007: Nil). (c) FANEBLERE(ZZSZLF:T) -
(d) No share option was lapsed during the year (2007: Nil). d) FABEEEERERS(ZEZTLF:T) -
(e) No share option was exercised during the year (2007: Nil). (e) FABIEEMEREETE(ZZETLF:T)
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share of the BHERERTRHEAENREART —REKMD - Bk
Company. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to R AR T 45 AEFEEUR BSRIRRAGIRE -

vote at shareholders’ meeting.
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29. RESERVES

The Group

(@)

Capital redemption reserve

The reserve represented the amount equivalent to the nominal value of the
Company shares cancelled arising from repurchase shares in prior years.

Convertible notes equity reserve

The reserve represents the value of the unexercised equity component of
convertible notes issued by the Company recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for convertible notes in note 3(j)iii).

Convertible preference shares equity reserve

The reserve represents the value of the unexercised equity component
of convertible preference shares issued by the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible preference
shares in note 3(j)(iii).

Special reserve

The reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the Company and the nominal value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation to rationalise the
structure of the Group in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on the GEM.

Translation reserve
The reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the

translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 3(q).

29. &t

i E
(@) EAEEEE

ZREEBEAERARRNREFEELZ HIEER
B EEZ S5 -

(b) ARG
AT IRIRET 5T 3() (i) FTEkEt AT IR IR FTER N 2
SEHBUR RN R R BT R R M AR TS
o ZEE -

(© AIRRRELRIEREE
L IEBTEIRIRBT 5T 3() (i) FTEk A AT AR B ST AR AT ER 4
ZEEHBUR R AR B BT ] MR B S AR A R AT
a2 (BE -

) %REE
AEBZBRIFEEARRDRDAEELERFLR

AR AR R LR R S A R IR AR S B 2R P UL
ERBRRROEE £ -

e HMEREE
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29. RESERVES (Continued) 29. fi& s (58)
The Company yIVNC|
Convertible

Capital  Convertible preference
Share redemption  notes equity  shares equity  Accumulated

premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TEREE  TRRELR

BOEE EARERE BERE BERE 2itER i

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER TR FiEn FEx TET

(Note 29(a)) (Note 29(b)) (Note 29(c))
(Wit29e) — (WiE29p)  (H#296)

At 1 April 2006 W=EZ, \FNA—H 23,521 84 3,006 6,541 (55,676) (22,524)
Transfer on the maturity WEHEETARTE

of convertible notes - - (1,208) - 1,208 -
Loss for the year TEEBR - - - - (16,899) (16,899)
At 31 March 2007 and 1 Aprl 2007 W-EBLE=A=+-8 23,521 84 1798 6,541 (71,367) (39,423
Conversion of convertible notes SETRRE 1717 - (1,798) - - (81)
Conversion of convertible SRTRREER

preference shares 2,739 - - (65,752 - (3,019
Share issued and related expenses in open offer ~ AFHEE 2 E{TRIHFX (1,159) - - - - (1,159)
Loss for the year FFEER - - - - (21,208) (21,28)
At 31 March 2008 R-ZEZENF=A=+—H 26,818 84 - 789 (92,665) (64,974)
The Company had no distributable reserves at 31 March 2008. Under the RZZEZENFZA=Z+—8 " ARAWEAHDIRH
Companies Law (Cap. 22 Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the #He BRBEREHESRFE(—NA—FEIREHF22
Cayman Islands, the share premium is distributable to the shareholders of the - RERERIEET) RIFEBEZSRREBHE - K
Company, provided that immediately following the date on which the dividends NEIREHERABEBRINA2EY - TARGEET
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its BORFARFRE °

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 30. OJ1RRR =R

The convertible notes are unlisted and their major terms are set out below:

ABERERIE LM REEBERESIOT

Principal Interest Conversion price Conversion period
& o BRE R
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(HiaE1) (Hit2)
HK$10,000,000 2.5% per annum HK$0.11 per share 9 December 2005 to
8 December 2008
10,000,000 7T HF25E BR011ET “ETRE+-ANEE
T NF+ANH
Notes: HisE -
1. Theinterests are payable on maturity date or within 14 business days after conversion 1. FIBZERBIEBHB RN RERE 14 BEEARIT -
of the notes.
2. The conversion price has been adjusted for the rights issue of the Company’s shares 2. WBRERER-ZTEF+-_A-T—HARRRMHZMH

%$IE&EA:§”£$+F]7EI$ Az EBB M A FHER
c RERAR DMERLA/ANEIMERL - §RK
?@2%?&171&50500,000 PBIT ©

on 21 December 2004 and the consolidation of the Company’s ordinary shares on 3
October 2005. The notes are convertible into new ordinary shares of the Company at
the said price in the amounts of not less than HK$500,000 on each conversion.

TR BB -

The movement of the convertible notes is as follows:

Equity Liability
component component Total
RAE S N Fob
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FER FHER FHET
At 1 April 2006 R-EZXFNUA—A 3,006 18,510 21,516
Effective interest expenses (Note 6)  EBEFIRFX (A7t 6) - 1,513 1,513
Transfer on maturity FO B HA B 43 2= H th FE AT 5K IR (1,208) (10,750) (11,958)
At 31 March 2007 RZZZE+F=A=1+—H 1,798 9,273 11,071
Effective interest expenses (Note 6)  EFEFIRFIX (11 6) - 107 107
Interest payable transferred to other — #5# Z= E A FE (S BRFN 2
payables ANEIES - (870) (370)
Converted to ordinary shares HmEaik
(Note 26(a)) (Hi# 26(a)) (1,798) (9,010) (10,808)
At 31 March 2008 R-ZENF=A=+—H - - -
During the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007, the effective interest rates REBE_ZTENFER-_TTLF=A=1T—HLEFE
were 7% and 9% for the two tranches of the convertible notes respectively. A TRREEMBS 2 BEEFESRRT7% R 9% °
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31. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENT 3. REHERH
As at 31 March 2008, the Group and the Company had outstanding RZZEZENF=ZA=+—H  AEERARQRAFLH R
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and BFEZ A REE SR e/ MABITAE  JEBWT -
buildings, which fall due as follows:-
The Group The Company
rEE AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EZN\F B —EENFE T F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAT FExT FET
Within one year —FR 1,327 2,254 - -
In the second to fifth years F_EZFERF(2E
inclusive BEWE) 205 1,410 - -
1,532 3,664 = -
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for the office CEAEFIEEAEEREN A EERE ISR
premises and staff quarters. Leases are negotiated for an average term of one to Z2He - BHFHEB—Z=ZRF FAXMNEEHES -
five years with fixed monthly rentals.
32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32. INREE

References are made to an announcement on 13 March 2006 in relation to
a claim of service commission of HK$3,329,000 (RMB3,000,000), together
with the interest of HK$252,000 (RMB227,000) by an ex-employee of Beijing
ThizLinux Software Co. Limited (“BTS”), a subsidiary of the Company in PRC,
against the Company. The ex-employee has obtained a judgement in his favour
in the court of PRC (the “Ruling”).

The Company’s legal advisers confirmed that, under the laws of Hong Kong and
the Cayman lIslands, there is no statutory mechanism for judgement made by
the Courts in Mainland China to be enforceable either in Hong Kong or Cayman
Islands. The directors of the Company believe that the enforceability of the
judgements against the Company is doubtful and the Group is not liable to the
claim. No provision has been made in these financial statements in respect of
any contingent liabilities arising from this claim.
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33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BINAE
At 31 March 2008, the Group and the Company had no material capital RZZEZNF=ZA=+—H FAEERKAFLESEX
commitments (2007: Nil). BRFESE(ZTTHF - 8
34. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. FENBHAEALTRS
The details of the material related party transactions and balances are as BEREMEALR G ZFBREHRAT
follows:-
(a) Balances with related parties (a) BRABEALZGH
They are disclosed in notes 23 and 24 to the financial statements. BRIEAL 2 RIS IRER I 5T 23 J 24 R R -
(b) Interest charged by related parties (b) BREEATWEZTIR
They are disclosed in notes 23 and 24 to the financial statements. BRAEANTHRELZ FI SR TSR F M 23 [ 24 A HE
= -
(c) Compensation of key management personnel (c) FZERAENE
The remuneration of directors and other key management during the year PHEEEE  EEREBEIEERE2MEMT :

was as follows:-

Year ended 31 March
BEZHA=1t—HLFE

2008 2007

—ZEN\F —TTLF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Short term benefits pSEEEw 924 2,657

Post-employment benefits BRIREF 35 21

959 2,678
The directors are of the opinion that balances with related parties and EERE HNBABEEATZEBRREBEATIE
related interest charged by related parties which also constitute connected ZHEBREIEKBIZER ETARA T 2EERS
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules were carried out in the normal TR AL E — R EBBIEZRETRIZER —REE

course of business of the Group and conducted on terms no better than BER 2 ERET ST ©
normal commercial terms.
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35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 3B5. FB2HRERS
(@ During the year, the convertible notes with principal amount of (@) FA - A&%E 410,000,000 T2 IR EIEAG
HK$10,000,000 were converted into ordinary shares of the Company EEEO B TLLBARRLEBREER-_ZZTLF
at HK$0.11 each and 90,909,090 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were 7N A#51790,900,000 B AR E{E0.1 B T2 Lk -

issued in June 2007.

(o)  During the year, a total of 300,000,000 convertible preference shares were (o) F A & $£300,000,000 % A] # % 8 5t (& iz 5 B
converted into ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.1 each at the rate EEOA BT A —RAT R E i 5 — g @R 2
of 1 convertible preference share for 1 ordinary share of the Company and HERABARREBRER -_ZEZLFNAET
300,000,000 ordinary shares were issued in June 2007. 300,000,000 % & 3@ ©

36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 36. WiE—RitE AT

In November 2006, the Group acquired the entire issued capital of 78 % ¥ RZTERF+—H  NEEUBER L HF Linux 25 &

Linux 20 & 9 s at a cash consideration of HK$196,967 (RMB200,000). This ALz 2BEBTRE - ReRER196,967E7T(A

transaction had been accounted for by the purchase method of accounting. R#200,0007T) ° ttEBERXR S UEESEHEALR -

HK$'000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BT EE
Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) M - BE REE (HEE14) 385
Trade receivables FEUR IR 1,005
Other receivables and prepayments H b FEEIE R IR RIE 85
Bank balances and cash ROTEFERRS 49
Other payables and accruals H b PR FIE RIERTRIE (399)
1,125
Minority interest DEIR R (113)
Excess over the cost of business combination PR ERZ
recognised in the income statement (Note 4) FRIE SIS S OF 2 AN (BfEE4) (815)
Total consideration wRE 197
Satisfied by: IATFIT R AT
Cash Be 197
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEEFTE 2 Ra 58
Cash paid BENRE (197)
Bank balances and cash acquired BITHEFERERS 49
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in WE—MHBARIZEERRES
respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary BEE R FE (148)
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36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 36. WEE—RIMIE LS (48)
The fair value of the net assets acquired approximated the carrying amount at BWEFEEATEARE AR EMEES -

the acquisition date.

37.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EIREREIR
The Group’s capital management objectives are: AEEEREREROT :
()  toensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; () HERANEEEENABEELEETE
(i) to provide an adequate return to shareholders; iy BAREERFHEARETRER
(i) to support the Group’s sustainable growth; (i) ZHAEEBEEE,
(iv) to provide capital for the purpose of potential mergers and acquisitions. (iv) FRHEERAEITARES O UK -
The Group sets the amount of equity capital in proportion to its overall financing REBMBEMEEBLIRTEERASGEE AEBETIE
structure. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to EEARGERE  THARBLCHEBSREERBEEZ RBRFIE
it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of ELMAFERAE - BTRFBNABREEARLEE - ANEET
the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the FERETFTRRZKRESE  MREBERAS - BT
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital R ERENREEE -

to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. B 5 @R EIR
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments in the normal TEEeMTARNBEEBBRTELEZEZRR AR
course of the Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and ERR - nBESRER - FIXERREERERR -

currency risk.

(a) Credit risk (a) E&ERIR

92

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. Trade receivables are due
within 30-60 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances that
are more than 2 months past due are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent.

At 31 March 2008, the Group has a concentration of credit risk as 21.4%
and 57.3% (2007: 10.5% and 41.9%) respectively of the trade receivables
were due from the Group’s largest debtor and the five largest debtors
respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any
collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset
in the balance sheet after deducting any impairment allowance. The Group
does not provide any other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Thiz Technology Group Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management, including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent Company’s board when the borrowings
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is
to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from related parties to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at the
balance sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s non-derivative
financial liabilities and derivative financial liabilities, which are based
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on rates current at
the balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group and the Company

PAT R MR ()

31 March2008 —ZZTN\F=A=+—H

38. M EIREIR (1&)

(b)

iGN

AREEANERLEEABARTANRSER
BEARSARETEHMLEMERESE - UERN
BEHReFR EEEREEBERENERES
HOARKARRESeIE KREZBERIEEY
ERARDESFRNAEETRZOZIEN - UHER
RIFFE RO FEEARBET ST RAES
FERE  ENEHEREHRBESHNTR -

TRINFARERARFRRET BIRDFTARRER
RemtEMTESRBERITESRAB (B
BRNER(NETFR) REAEE QBT EE
ZHB) ZFBERHR - URAEERARFAE
BABPORZ &P AHFS -

can be required to pay.

Total
contractual Within 1
Carrying undiscounted year or on
The Group and Company amount cash flow demand
AEERAAT IREE SINRMREESR R—FRIIRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
2008 ZEENF

Trade payables FETBRIA 341 341 341

Other payables, deposits received HAERRIE - BEWIES
and accruals K fEETRIR 35,890 37,190 37,190
Amounts due to directors ENEERIER 8,725 9,182 9,182
Amount due to the spouse of a director FENESRBRIA 2,306 2,428 2,428
47,262 49,141 49,141

2007 —E2LF

Trade payables FEISERTR 321 321 321

Other payables, deposits received HipfEF0E - BEliES
and accruals K EETRIE 42,542 44,129 44,129
Amounts due to directors R EERE 8,724 9,378 9,378
Amount due to the spouse of a director ENESRREHIA 2,070 2,225 2,225
53,657 56,053 56,053

BRI R BAR AR

2008 £
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. M RMEIE (&)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) MIRRR

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from short-term borrowings. AEBZAXRRBREERFEEALCEHER - HFEF
Borrowings issued at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group R REFEFERGT B ZERAERERERIE S RAE
to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest risk respectively. The R EAFEFERRRE BEEERAERZF
Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out below. RN - BT -
The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the ATRHEAREBEARARNEER 2 EHREE(FTE
Company’s net borrowings (as defined above) at the balance sheet date. R EX) 2 FIEFFE -

The Group and Company

AEERAEAT
2008 2007
ZEENF —ETLF
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BERIE HEF =
% HK$’000 % HK$’000
% FHT % FAT
Fixed rate borrowings EEFREER
Short term loan EEIE - 2.5% 10,000
Variable rate borrowings ZEANEREE
Loan from a director FEEXR 5.25% 8,710 7.75% 8,710
Loan from the spouse of a director FEREER 5.25% 2,306 7.75% 2,070
Other loan payables HibfERER 5.25% 24,757 7.75% 21,163
Total variable rate borrowings FEAREERRE 35,773 31,943
Total borrowings [Ep=E it 35,773 41,943
Fixed rate borrowings as a percentage BEEFEEELE
of total borrowings EREE L 0% 24%
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s and the
Company’s borrowings are disclosed in notes 22, 23 and 24 to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2008, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s loss after taxation and accumulated losses
by approximately HK$309,000 (2007: HK$319,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for both derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis
point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the next
annual balance sheet date. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2007.

Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group’s transactions
are carried out in the respective functional currencies of the Group entities.

Fair values estimation

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 March 2008 and 2007.

38. M EIREIR (1&)

(o) MIZREMR (K8)

REE RARA RUERZ I E R I8 5K EATE B s 3Rk MY
FT22 28 24 NHEE ©

RZZETNF=ZA=+—8 EMAEEBEHT
FEOBERT - EarFIER— R EF T #1001
HE 28R ASERBIEERR R EISE
hn/R 4 49309,000 7 T (ZE T+ F : 319,000%
J) e

B BB 5T E BRI BB R BB
BT + 3 2 A 3R 51 3% B A 58 5 974 3
PAESRMITAY FIEEMR - FBTH100EE
EREYAES T —AFEAE RPN HETLA
BED 2 AEEER - ERLFRIEAE
RITHH o

(d) SRR

HRAEEZZSRBINEEEREAZIER
FERETT - R AEE AR Z B ERIBE -

(e) RHEfS

FEERTANE _ZZNFR_ZZTLF=H
=t—RAEHERTAZAFEBEZSRIIR -
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39. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 39. 85t 5 R HIER

Thiz Technology Group Limited

The Group’s financial position and results of operations are sensitive to
accounting methods, assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. The Group bases the assumptions
and estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
the Group believes to be reasonable and which form the basis for making
judgements about matters that are not readily apparent from other sources.
On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates. Actual results may
differ from those estimates as facts, circumstances and conditions change.

The selection of significant accounting policies, the judgements and other
uncertainties affecting application of those policies and the sensitivity of reported
results to changes in conditions and assumptions are factors to be considered
when reviewing the consolidated financial statements.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment losses on trade receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses on trade receivables resulting from the
inability of the customers to make the required payments. The Group bases the
estimates on the ageing of the accounts receivable balance, customer credit-
worthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of the
customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs might be higher than expected
and could significantly affect the results of future periods.

Capitalisation of development costs

Note 3(n) describes the criteria for capitalisation of development costs.
Considerable degree of judgement is required to determine whether the
capitalised development costs meet the criteria and, in particular, the technical
feasibility of the projects and the economic benefits to be derived upon
completion of the development.
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40.

Notes to the Financial Statements [Continued])

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Impairment losses of deferred development costs

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its deferred development costs to
determine whether they are impaired. The recoverable amount of the deferred
development costs is determined based on the cash generating units (“CGU”) of
the distribution of the Group’s Linux based software to which the development
costs belonged on the value in use basis. The calculations are based on the
most recent financial projections of the aforesaid operations approved by
management. The following key assumptions have been made for the purpose
of analysis:

1. No change in gross margin
2. Pre tax discount rate of 12% per year
3. Average growth rate of 5%

The Group determined the gross margin based mainly on past performance of
the CGU. The discount rate is determined based on the risk free interest rate
adjusted by the specific risk associated with the CGU. Should the directors’
estimation of inputs such as gross margin, pre tax discount rate and average
growth rate be revised, the carrying amount of the deferred development costs
will be adjusted accordingly.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as
recognised at 31 March 2008 and 2007 may be categorised as follows:-

39.

40.
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S5tib st RFIER (&)
BTSSR E RS

A EEE MR TR RN A2 EEENEE RS RTR
{8 o SEIE BT AR A 2 7T MO 0 T AR R B B AR A 52
{BEEERTE > AR Lnux B 5 32 R B
(TR £ B ) AR, T84 it EIR AL 2 48
B2 BTN HEE - RAOMME - DT
e

1. EFERTELREH)
2. BBATEEAEF12%
3. TFHEEER5%

AEETERBEREELEMFEZRABEEENEK -
PR DREERESELEVERSERRARZE
FBAESH - MEELERA (NENE - BERFTITEE
RPEBRE) 2 BEHERE - AEREREKRAZ REE
AR -

ERMEERENESENBIGRE

AEER-ZZN\FR-_ZEZLF=ZA=+—H®ER
SREERERABZEMEDRNT

2008 2007
—ETN\F ZZTLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHT
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables (including B FEWRIE
cash and bank balances) (BRERE RRTER) $ 13,939 $ 6,620
Financial liabilities SRaE
Financial liabilities measured REHKAE 2
at amortised cost TRBE $ 47,262 $ 53,657

BNESRIFSEEAR AR 2008 F3R
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41. NON-ADJUSTING POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 4. IFRBGEHEBESIA
Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed on 14 April 2008, the Company BER-ZEEN\FOATHNEBBZ TERHEER  AQ
exercised the conversion right as set out in Memorandum and Articles of AT A ER A RMBRAI S 2 RRE - BAREZ
Association to covert 40,000,000 convertible preferences shares into ordinary 40,000,000 f% AT AR (B S g A E R - R=ZZTTN
shares of the Company. On 25 April 2008, 40,000,000 ordinary shares of the FNAZ+HREB AR A Z 40,000,000 0% & i i & &
Company were issued and the enlarged issued share capital of the Company 17 BARRRZBEERAIAKRE LSRR 2 EERBEITR
immediately after the conversion of the convertible preference shares was R A108,561,0008 7T °

HK$108,561,000.

42. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 42. L8 F
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current ETUHRHEFEEFTVE UHEAAEEZREZ2®RST
year’s presentation. = o

43. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 43. #EEITFSIRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of EEFeRN 2 N\EXNA -+ EBIENIREETIE
directors on 27 June 2008. WK ©
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Financial Summary
MEHE

Results ESF o

Year ended 31 March
BEZHA=1t—HLFE

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

—EENF e ZTTRF —TTARF ZTTEF

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FTT FHT FHT FH&T

(Restated) (Restated)

(#e=51) (#e=51)

Turnover BB 6,264 14,141 8,368 18,333 37,415

Loss from operations KB EE (39,223) (42,309) (29,002) (16,327) (13,253)

Finance costs BB A (3,738) (6,159) (2,845) (883) (250)

Loss before taxation Bt Al ES 1B (42,961) (48,468) (31,847) (17,210) (13,503)

Taxation 1A - - - 6,172) -

Loss for the year REFEEE (42,961) (48,468) (31,847) (23,382) (13,503)
Attributable to:— AR AT FELR -

Equity holders of the Company RATRERAE A (42,848) (48,468) (31,700) (23,152) (13,503)

Minority interests DERR R RS (113) - (147) (230) -

(42,961) (48,468) (31,847) (23,382) (13,508)
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Financial Summary (Continued)
MHHE (&)

Assets and liabilities EENEE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
ZEENF —TTLF ZEEREF —TTRF —ZTmE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (&31)

Non-current assets FEMBEE 16,675 36,764 25,451 16,108 7,475

Current assets MENVEE 14,933 8,645 43,234 43,756 40,997

Deduct: DA

Current liabilities mEBE 52,950 53,832 29,489 30,302 9,043

Net current (liabilities)/assets B (BB BEFE (38,017) (45,187) 13,745 13,454 31,954

Total assets less current REAER

liabilities REEE (21,342) (8,423) 39,196 29,562 39,429

Non-current liabilities EMEAE (4,110) (46,760) (47,612) (13,382) (12,487)

Minority interests DE R R - (113) - (147) -

Net (liabilities)/assets (afE),/ EE%E (25,452) (55,296) (8,416) 16,033 26,942

Notes: MsE -

1. The consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2006, 2005 and 1. AEBHE-TZTRF  _TTAFR-ZTNF=A=+—
2004 are extracted from the published audited financial statements for these years. The AIEFEZEEXENREEZEFED TR 2 EEXTHR
consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007 are as set R - AKEERBE_TTN\ER-_ZTT+F=-A=+—HLF
out on page 29 of the audited financial statements. EERAEEEHNEERYBREREE -

2. The consolidated balance sheets as at 31 March 2006, 2005 and 2004 are extracted from 2. RZZTRF  —TZTRFR-ZZNF=ZA=+—B2ZEE
the published audited financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2006, 2005 and BEBBXRDBBEEHEZE_ZT F —ZTHFR-ZTTNO
2004, prepared on the basis as if the Group had been in existence for these years. The FZA=TBUEFEEHEIEERMHRE - ZREIAR
consolidated balance sheets of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and 2007 are as set out BAEERZEFE—EFE2EERY - AEER =TT N
on pages 30 and 31 of the audited financial statements. FROIZTHEE =A==t HZREEEBBERIANEEZY

WBHMKRESOENEB1 A -
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